Thomas et dl|v. Cannon et al

© 0 N o o A w N e

N N NN NN P PR R R R R R R
M N W N B, O © 0 ~N o ;AN W N Rk O

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF WASHINGTON

FREDRICK and ANNALESA THOMAS; and
JO-HANNA READ, as Guardian ad Litem of
E.T., a minor,

Plaintiffs,
V.

JASON CANNON; BRIAN MARKERT;
RYAN MICENKO; MICHAEL WILEY;
MICHAEL ZARO; CITY OF FIFE; CITY OF
LAKEWOOD; and PIERCE COUNTY
METRO SWAT TEAM,

Defendants.

FREDRICK THOMAS and ANNALESA
THOMAS, as CeAdministrators of the Estate
of Leonard Thomas, and its statutory
beneficiaries,

Plaintiffs,
V.

BRIAN MARKERT; MICHAEL WILEY;
NATHAN VANCE; MICHAEL ZARO;
SCOTT GREEN; JEFF RACKLEY; CITY OF
FIFE; CITY OF LAKEWOOD; PIERCE
COUNTY METRO SWAT TEAM; and JOHN
DOES 1 through 10,

Defendants.

Nos. 3:15-05346 BJR
3:16ev-05392
CONSOLIDATED CASES

ORDER DENYING
DEFENDANTS’POST
TRIAL MOTIONS

Doc. 332

Docket

5.Justia.com


https://dockets.justia.com/docket/washington/wawdce/3:2015cv05346/215437/
https://docs.justia.com/cases/federal/district-courts/washington/wawdce/3:2015cv05346/215437/332/
https://dockets.justia.com/

© 0 N o o A w N e

N N NN NN P PR R R R R R R
M N W N B, O © 0 ~N o ;AN W N Rk O

Table ofContents
L. INTRODUGCTION <.ttt e e e e e e e e e sttt et e e e e e e e aeeeeeeeeesssssnnnnnnnnnirnnees 3
[I. FACTUAL BACKGROUND ...ttt e e e e e s s eeeeeeaeaaaaaeeaeansssnnnndonnns 3
A. Shooting of Leonard TNOMAS.........ccivviiiiiiiiiiiiiiai e e e e e e e e s e e e e e e eeaaeeeeeeeshennnnnns 3
N UV I = | SRR PPPPTTURPPRRRTR SUTRT 7
lll. DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR JUDGMENT AS A MATTER OF LAW  .......cccvvineeee. 8
A. E.T.s Unreasonable Seizure Claim (Verdict QuUestion ONe) ..........ccoovvvvvvvivrnciiiiinneecfeeeenn. 9
B. Estate’s Unreasonable Seizure Claim (Verdict Question Qne)..........ccccvvvvvvveiinennn. 10
C. Estate’s Excessive Force Claim Against Wiley (Verdict QueStiga) ........................ 11
D. Fourteenth Amendment Deprivation of Familial Relationship (Verdict Questiozel4
E. Unreasonable Search and Seizure: Explosive Breach (Verdict Question.Four).... 17
F. Unreasonable Seizure of the Dog (Verdict Question FiVe) ..........cccceeeeevvvvvieveeiviincenn o, 20
G. Fred’'s Fourth Amendment Seizure Claim (Verdict Question SiX)............uvvveeiiiinnennnn. v 21
H. State Law False Arrest (Verdict QUESLION SEVEN)..........uuuiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeene s 23
I. E.T.and Annalesa’s Outrage Claims (Verdict Question Eight) ............cccceeiiiniiinnnn o 24
J. Negligent Child Abuse Investigation (Verdict Question NiN€)............cccevvvvvvvvniinennnnn. ... 26
K. Punitive Damages (Verdict Question EIeVEN) ..........coouvuiiiiiiiiiiinieeeeeeeeeeeeeeii s e 27
IV. DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR REMITTITUR ...ttt 28
A, COMPENSAIGN DAMAGES. ...t eeeeietie et e et et e e et ettt e e e e e e et e e e e e eeaaaa e e e aeeennan e eas .. 31
1. JUry’'s AWArdS t0 E.T. oo e e e e e e e e e e e e e e eeenrnnnnn b s 31
2. Jury's Awards to the Estate of Leonard Thomas. .............eeiiiiiiiiiieeiiiiiiiiieiiiiin o, 34
3. Jury’'s Awards to Annalesa TROMAS. ......cccoeieiiiiieiiiiiieceeeeicrs e e e e e e e e e e eeeeeeee s 35
4. Jury's Awads to Fredrick TROMAS. ......coeviiiiiiiiiiiiie e o 37
B.  PUNITIVE DAMAJES. .. . uiiiiiiiieeeeeee ettt s e s e e e e e e e e e e e e et e e eeeaaaaas e s e e aaaeaeeaaeaeeeenennnes ... 38
V. DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR QUALIFIED IMMUNITY e 43
AL WAV ..ottt e e e e e e e e bbbttt e e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e nnnnnnnnene feaees 44
1. Markert, Wiley, CanNON ......cooeiiiiiiiiiiiei ettt e e e e e e eeeeeeeeennnnnns e 44
4 - o T PP PPUPPTRRRPURPPTRE ISPPTN 46
B.  Constitutional VIOIAtION.........ceeiiiiiiiiiieee e AT
C. Clearly EStabliShed LaW..............uuuuiiiiiiiiieiecc e e e e e e e e e ..51
1. EXxcessive force against LEONAId...........uuiiiiiiiiiii e e e eeeeeeees .52
2. EXPIOSIVE DIOCH......... i a e ... 54
3. Shooting Of the dOQ. . .coiiiee e e e e e e eeeeeneees e 56
A, UNIQWIUL @ITEST. ..o r e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e aaaans ... 59
VI. DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL  ooiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeee e 59
A.  EXCIUSION OFf WEAPONS ....uuiieiiiieeeeieieeeeeeeeies s s s s e e e e e e e e e e e e e e eeeeaaaaasan s e e s e eeeeaeeaaeeeenennsshunnnns 60
B. Duplicative Case PreSentatiONS...........uuuuuuuuiiiieaeeeeeeeeeeeeeieeiiiiisiiana e e e e e e eeaeeeeeeeeenees .. 61
C. RACEBASEA ArQUMENTS ... .uiiiiii e e e eieeeeeeeeeeeett e s e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e s e e e e e e e e aaaaaaeeeeees ... 62
D. Excluding Reference to the Josh Powell Incident...............ooooiiiiiiiiiiie e, 63
E. EXcluding the 3D ANIMatiONS........uiiiiiiieeeeeeceieeeeeeeesss s e e e e e e e e e e e e eeeeesaaannnnn e e e ee | aees 66
F. Discussion of Markert's Legal Representation................ouuueeeviiiiiinieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeviiiins 66
G. Answering Jury’s Question Regarding Cannon’s Employment............ccccoeevvvvvcceeen o 67
H.  CUMUIALIVE EITON ...t e e e e e e e e eeeeesnnnnn e e e e e e e e e e 68
[, INCONSISTENT VEITICES. . ...ttt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e anaes .... 68
J.  Evidentiary DefICIENCIES. .....uu et ... 69
VL. CONCLUSION ittt ettt e ettt e e e e e e e e eeeeeaeesasnnnnnnnnnirees 69
2




© 0 N o o A w N e

N N NN NN P PR R R R R R R
M N W N B, O © 0 ~N o ;AN W N Rk O

[. INTRODUCTION

Defendants have brought four posal motions for the Court’s review: a Motion for Judgme
as a Matter of Law (ECF 282); Motion for Remittitur (ECF 284a Motion for Qualified Immunity
(ECF 280); a Motion for New Trial (ECF 283). Having reviewed the parties’ submissions, thetre
legal authority, and all other relevant material properly beforeCiert, the Court will DENY

Defendants’ Motions.

II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

On the night of May 23, 2013, a confrontation with tragic results occurred betwéss
from theCities of Fife and Lakewood and Leonard Thomas at his home in Fife. The ever
unfolded resulted in the lethal shootin§ Thomas who was unarmedyy a police sniper

Plaintiffs, which include Leonard’s Estate as well as his paredts@m, brought this civil right;

action, whichresulted in a substantial jury verdict their favor. While the full scope of the

evidence required a lengthy trial, the essential facts are summarized here.

A. Shooting of Leonardhomas

LeonardThomaslived with his fouryearold son, E.T, in a home in Fife owned by |
parents, Fred and Annaleshomas In the evening of May 23, 2013, Leonard called Annal
explainedhe was depressed over the death of a friend, and asked her to come take E.T]
night. Annalesaagreed Shewas concerned that Leawla after a year of sobriety, had be
drinking, and she was worried that Leonard would fall asleep and not be able toaEehdhat
night. When Annalesa arrived sometime after 9:00.pLeonard chnged his mind and becan
upset as Annalesa prepared to leave with E.-T. The argument between Leonard ansh/

escalated when Annalesa slapped Leonard’s face with an open hand. Anrigieé$d tat 10:18
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p.m, and told the dispatcher that she needed the police. Leonard grabbed the pho
Annalesa, and told the dispatcher that his mother had hit him and that he needed help.

Fife Police Officers responded to the Thomas house and contacted Leonardpharmel
During their initial 24 minute conversation, Leonard tthld Fife officerthat he was upset abo
the recent loss of a personal friend and had requested his mother come to pick up histsel
had subsequently been assaulted by his mother and was bleeding from thetfheehdalddockd
all the doors and would not be coming out of the house or allowing officers inside the hou
that the police were scaring his feggarold son andgshouldleave his property Approximately
an hour later, after Leonard continued to refuse to enfesgethe house, the Fife police chi
called for the Pierce County Metro SWAT Te#&mrespond to the scene.

The SWATTeamarrived at approximately 12:20ma. with two tanklike armored vehicles
The “AT” (“armored transport”) was driven across the neiglsard, through a fence separati
the neighbor’s yard from the Thomas home, and parked just off the back patio of the T
residence. The “Bearcat” was parked on the street in front of the house. Two snipetsign
Defendant Brian Markert, took up positions in front of the house. Defendant Mike Wile
TeamLeader of the SWAT eanis tactical side, while Defendant Mike Zaro, the Assistant C
of Police for Lakewood, oversaw field operations. Officer Wiley informed WA Teamthat
they were‘responding to basically assault 4 Dfomestic violence]” due to Leondsdgrab of
Annalesa’s wrist when he snatched the phone during the initial 911 call. \bldethé Team
“Barricaded male suspect has his four year old son maybe pseudo hostage. Theutsidag
Made no threats towards the son.” As negotiations with Leonard proceeded through th

Leonard repeated that he did not have any weapons, and warned officers not ashisn{

grenades to enter the house. No officer heara&debmake any threats to harm himself, his chi
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or any officer. During the course of negotiations Leonard repeatedly dskedfiters to stoq
harassing him and leave him alone.

At approximate 1:08.m., FredThomas (Leonard’s fathegrrived at thepolice staging

areaa few blocks from the houseresponse to a call from Annalesa. Fred explained to the officers

that he needed to go to his house to speak to his son, butidvdat the road was closed to traffi
Fred walked to the back of the property and climbed the six foot chain link fence surroined
backyard. Officer Ryan Micenko, who was behind the house at the time, stopped Frest]

him to the ground, and placed him in handcuffs. Fred explained to the officers tivaidhe lite

residence and that he was there to talk to his son. Defendant Jason Cannon, the eleiaygé¢e
stationed at the back of the house, radioed Zaro to say, “We’'ve got the propeetyamdrihe
father of the suspect detained. Where would you like [him]?” Zaro asked, “Other thg
generally inserting himself onto the scene, does any of his activity wéirargoing to jail?”
Cannon responded, “l guess that depends on how cooperative he is with you guys but yol
least obstructing on him if you want to.” Zaro said, “That's what | need, thanksd was then
taken to jail where he was kept until the following morning, when he was releabedtieing
charged.

As negotiations with Leonard continued unsuccessfofficers internally discussetthe
possibility thaif Leonard let E.T. go, they could simply leawe the night and come back to arre
Leonard another time. Zaro agreed with this approach, and asked Fife Police GikbtBidif
we get the son tonight, are you good with us legWier®’ Chief Blackburn agreed that “Yeal
if we have the son, then you camve can walk away from this thing tonight and we’ll get him
another time when it's not so volatile.” Leonard initially resisted this propbsaleventually

responded, “Okay, we’ll do that.”
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Leonard brought E.T., who had been sleeping, out to the front porch, but insisted th
leave with Annalesa, not with the police officers. The officers refused this reqaed the
stalemate continued.

Based on Leonard’s continued demands to have Annalesa come up to the ho
continued refusal teeleaseE.T. to the policeand the fact that he was now the front porchwith
E.T., Chief Zaro radioed the entire SWAT Team, ordering them “Do not let that kid ro&uok
house If we are able to separate the kid from the dad, do not let him go back in the I
Despite this order, which was never communicated to Leonard, Leonard conarg@atand
out of the house with E.T. While Annalesa was not allowed to go up twtlse, officers escortg
herto the Bearcat, where Leonard could see and hear her.

At 2:00 am. a warrant was signed for the arrest of Leonard for domestic violence 3
in the fourth degree, a misdemeanor. SWAT officers began working to set an exiplearsti@ng
charge on the back door of the house. At approximately 2:45lzeonardreturned to the porc
again with E.T., E.T.’s car seat, aadovernightoag Leonard was in the doorway and BEaas
sitting on the steps of the porch when, with Wiley’'s encouragement, Zaro gavegenio
breach the back door withe explosive charge The explosionwvas designed to sever the hing
of the door andreate a deafening bang that wooleérwhelm a subject’s senses so tiefteezes
in place. Trial testimony also suggested that it was foreseeable that the charge woulg
Leonard to reach for E.T. in fear. Indeed, that's what happened.

When the breaching charge detonated, Leonard ran togdicKked him up, and started
retreating into the residea. While Leonard was holding E.T., Markert fired his rifle, strik
Leonard just above the belt line on the right side of his abdomen. Leonard fell backwéine

house. Wiley and Defendant Officer Nathan Vance ran toward the house through thgafrdn

atE.T.
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where they encountered Leonard’s dog, Baxter. Vahotthe dog twice, and then Wiley firg
additional shots, killing it.

Officers entering through the rear door encountered Leonard sitting on thedffoay,
clutching E.T.’s back against his chest. As the officers struggled to pry&TLEonard’s arms
one officer started punching Leonard in the face. Another officer recaltathtas last words
“Don’t hurt my boy.” Later that morning, two detectives and a chaplainealat the jailvhere

Fred was being held to inform him that his son was dead.

B. Jury Trial

The jury trial commencedn June 21, 201and lasted twelve daysAfter five days of

deliberation, and the jury returned its verdict on July 14, 2017. The jury found Fourth and

Fourteenth Amendment violations were committed by Defendants Zaro, Wiley, mjaihke the
City of Lakewood due to the excessive force used against Leonard and theonabéa methog
of seizing E.T. The jury further found that Zaro and Lakewood violated the Fourt
Amendmentrights of E.T., Fred, and Annalesa by illegally depriving them of their fdm
relationship with Leonard.

The jury found Zaro, Wiley, and the City of Lakewood liable for Fourth Amendr
violations related to the use of the explosive breach. The jury found Wiley, but not Vableg
for Fourth Amendment violations related to the shooting of Leonard’s dog. Thejurg Zaro
and Cannon, but not Micenko, liable for Fourth Amendment violations related to the arrest.c
And the jury found the Cjtof Lakewood liable under state law claims for the false arrest of |
the outrage suffered by Annalesa and E.T., and the negligence in the investigatsepainated
E.T. from his father. The City of Fife was also found liable for the negligeestigation, buf

was found not liable for the false arrest of Fred. The jury awarded a total of $8,635,
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1°2)

compensatory damages. The jury also awarded a total of $6,500,000 in punitive deyaatgst
Zaro, Wiley, and Markert. Defendants subsequently filed fourtp@stmotions, which the Count

will now address.

[ll. DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR JUDGMENT AS A MATTER OF LAW

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 50 provides that the Court may direct the epitigofent

—

as a matter of law wheféhe court finds that a reasonable jury wontat have a legally sufficien
evidentiary basis to find for the party on that issud.'directed verdict must be entered where
“there is no substantial evidence to support the claiRutledge v. Eleddose & Rubber Cp511

F.2d 668, 677 (9th Cir. 1975y fotingCleary v. Natl Distillers & Chem Corp, 505 F.2d 695

696 (9th Cir. 1974)). A court may only grant a Rule 50(b) motion “if the evidence, construed in

the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, permits only one reasonable conclusiont and tha

conclusion is contrary to the jury’s verdicEscriba v. Foster Poultry Farms, In@.43 F.3d 1236

1242 (9th Cir. 2014) (internal punctuation omitted). The court “must draw all reasqnable

inferences in favor of the nonmoving party, and it may not make credibility detgioms or
weigh the evidence.Reeves. Sanderson Plumbing Prods., IN830 U.S. 133, 15@000). The

court “must disregard all evidence favorable to the moving party that the jury isquated to

believe.” Id. at 151. The court may only give credence to evidence favoring the moving party i

that evidence is “uncontradicted,” “unimpeached,” and “comes from disintergstesses.”ld.

The Ninth Circuit has noted that some of the prudential reluctance to grant summargnugg

—a complete deprivation of a trialmay be relaxed in this context because the parties have had

their day in court.SeeSanta Clara Valley DistribCo. Inc. v. Pabst Brewing Cp556 F.2d 942

944 n.1(9th Cir. 1977). Like summary judgment, however, tiere existence of some alleg

D

factual dispute between the pastor a “scintilla of evidence” will not defeat a properly supported
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motion for a directed verdictAnderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inel77 U.S. 242, 2448, 251(1986);
Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. Ltd. v. Zenith Radio Cofg5 U.S. 574, 593 (1986).
Defendants argue they are entitled to judgment as a matter of law on ten of Pla

claims. The Court will address each in turn.

A. E.T.'s Unreasonable Seizure Claim (Verdict Question One)

Question One of the verdict form read:

Plaintiffs E.T. and the Estate of Leonard Thomas bring a Fourth and Fourteenth

Amendment constitutional claim for the unreasonable seizure of E.T. from Leonard

Thomas. Did any of the Defendants seize E.T. from his father Leonard Thomas in

an unreasonable manner, or cause E.T. to be unreasonably seized?
(ECF 237 at 2.)

The jury found Defendants Zaro, Wiley, Markert, and the City of Lakewood lialiteT .
and Leonard’s Estate on this clainid.) Defendants argubatthis verdict was improper becau
E.T. could not bring a Fourteenth Amendment claim for his seizure and the Estate cauildgn
a Fourth Amendment claim for E.T.’s seizure. This objection misreads the Jerdict The
Fourth Amendment claim was brought by E.T. and the Fourteenth Amendment claim wés
by the Estate. Those claims were combined in this question because they concere thpisal
—the seizure of E.T= and they turn on the same legal testhether a reasonable person in |
position of Leonard Thomas would have felt free to leave the scene with B@ withhold
consent to the officers taking E.T., and whether the scope of the intrusion used to seizash
reasonably necessary to alleviate the threat posed to BieeECF 220 at 20see alsaJones v.
Cty. of Los Angeles302 F.3d 990, 1000 (9th Cir. 2015) (“While the constitutional@®of the

parent’s and the child’s rights differ, the tests under the Fourteenth Amendntethe Fourth

Amendment for when a child may be seized without a warrant are the same.”).) Theasditte
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form was correct and there was no likelihood that the jury mistakenly applied anehstarelard
for the claims brought by E.T. and the Estate for E.T.’s seizure.
Defendants further argue that Markert should not have been found liable becausetths

Amendmentoes not apply tofficers who make “every effort to deliver [hostages] from unlaw

abduction.” SeeECF 282 at 24 (quotinGhildress v. City of Arapah@10 F.3d 1154, 1157 (10th

Cir. 2000).) But E.T. was not a hostaged Markert andhe other officers here were n
attempting to separate him from a kidnapper. Rather, they were attempting to sechdddrom
his parent without the parent’s consent. In such a situation, “[tlhe Constitution requotial

separating a child &m its parents to obtain a court order unless the official has reasonablg

to believe the child is in ‘imminent danger of serious bodily injurydnes 802 F.3d at 1000,

Here the officers did not have a warrant to remove E.T. and the jury reBsdasdsmined that

E.T. was not in imminent dangat the timeMarkert shot Leonard. Further, the jury was

unreasonable in determining that shooting Leonard was an unreasonable way to remioomE.

his father. Because this remowvhly-shooting wagprecipitated by actions takemmd orders giver
by Wiley and Zaro, the jury reasonably found them liable on this claim as \Refendants
acknowledge that a liability finding against Zaro also supports liability sgaine City of

Lakewood. (ECF 282 at 25.)

B. Estate’s Unreasonable Seizure Claim (Verdict Question One)

Defendants repeat their misreading of the verdict form and dhgtithe Estate canng
bring a Fourth Amendment claim for the seizure of E.T. As explaopdh—and as apparer
from the verdit from — the Estate’s claim on this question is pursuant to the Fourtg
Amendment. Defendants further object that the Estate’s Fourteenth Amendeientwas

dismissed on summary judgment. In its summary judgment order, the Court saicateehkd
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abandoned its claim for deprivation of Leonard’s familial relationship with E.CF(E28 at 20
n.4.) The standard for the Fourteenth Amendment familial deprivation €laimether excessive
force shocked the conscieneés different from the standard for Fourteenth Amendment sei

of a child — whether the child was removed without reasonable cause. The Estate’s f

D
L

zure

amilial

deprivation claim did not go to the jury, pursuant to the summary judgment order, but the

unreasonable seizure claim surviyveshdthe jury’s decision on that claimvas supported by

evidence presented at trial.

C. Estate’s Excessive Force Claim Against Wiley (Verdict Question Two)

Question Two of the verdict form read:

Plaintiff the Estate of Leonard Thomas brings a Fourth Amendmentitotiogal

claim for excessive force. Did any of the Defendants use excessive force against

Leonard Thomas, or cause excessive force to be used against him?

(ECF 237 at 3.)

The jury found Defendants Zaro, Wiley, Markert, and the City of Lakewoockl@bkhis
claim. (ECF 237 at 3.) Defendants argue that Wiley is entitled to judgment as a méiteroof
this claim because he did not order or engage in any use of force. According to Defehéd
jury wrongfully held Wiley liable for the shooting of Leonard based on Wiley’'s role in
explosive breach, under the theory that the explosive breach provoked the shDefegdants
arguethat this liability finding wasiecessarily based on a “provocation theory” that was rejq
by the Supreme Court i@ty. of Los Angeles v. Mendd87 S. Ct. 1539 (2017).

In Mendezpolice officers entered a shack on residential property without a searemty
137 S. Ct. at 1545. Mendez, who had been sleeping in the shack, responded by picking

gun, which prompted the officers to immediately open fire on Honat 154445. The district

court determined that the officers’ use of force was reasonable due to Mgmolesgssion of th
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gun, but, applying the Ninth Circuit’s “provocation rule,” nonetheless found theffiable for
excessive force because the illegal warrantless entry provoked the shddtiag) 1545. The
Supreme Court reversed, explaining that once a use oiM@asjadged to be reasonable, it canr

be recharacterized as excessive force due to a sepamatéutional violation (such as warrantle

ot

SS

entry, or in this case, the explosive brepdld. at 1547. The Court recognized that the provocation

rule would only “come[]into play after a forceful seizur@as been judged to be reasonadblkl.

at 146. The Court went on to hold that the ridsamproper because “[w]hen an officer carries
a seizure that is reasonable, taking into account all relevant circumstameesistimo valid
excessive force claim.id. at 1547.

Thus,Mendezs not analogous tihesituationpresent in this case. Plaintiffs did not arg
that Defendants’ reasonable use of force should be punished because of some
constitutional violation. Rather, they argued that tbece exercised by Defendants wj
unreasonable at every stagewasunreasonable for Zaro to order his team, including snipers
to let Leonard back into his house with E.T. when there was no threat of harm to anlylvealy
unreasonable for Wiley to cause an explosive breach that foreseeably leddLisopanic and
retreat with E.T. into the cover of his home while Zaro’s order remainednodisy. And it was
independently unreasonable for Markert to respond to the thaeg created byfiring a lethal
shot at Leonard. Each of these Defendants proximately causednards deaththrough
unreasonable conduct.

Next, Defendants cit®ledrano v. City of Los Angele373 F.2d 1499 (9th Cir. 1992), fq
the principle that “[w]ithout some evidence that thesocene supervisors authorized use

excessive force, theedision to enter the [residence] cannot reasonably support a judgment if

of the [Plaintiffs] for an excessive force claim against the supervis@g3 F.2d at 1504
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Medranoconcerned the death of Ruben Medrano, who had left a suicide note, hocissdf in

his bathroom with a loaded .357 magnum revolver, injected himself with a lethal dosagempf
and threatened to kill anyone who tried to enter the bathroom to prevent his sldciae1501.
Police officers negotiated with Medrano to come out of the bathroom, without sutite®si.ce

the officers could hear Medrano snoring, they determined that he was in-iadliagd state o
unconsciousness and decided to enter the bathréshnifwo officers entered the bathroom ar
according toheir testimony, shot Medrano to death after Medrano awoke and fired his ow
Id. at 150202. Medrano’s family brought suit for excessive force, but the district court ¢
dismissed or directed verdicts in favor of all the defendants except ftwahafficers who shot
Medrano. Id. at 1502. On review, the Ninth Circuit held that directed verdicts in favor of th
scene supervisors and team leaders was appropriate because the decisiorthte bateroom
was reasonableld. at 1504. Defendants argue Wilaeyas entitled to judgment because, like 1
supervisors ilMedrang his entry order was not unreasonable.

However, he facs of this case are easily distinguishdbten Medrana InMedranq the

supervising officers merely authorized entry into a bathroom where the suggdatheved to be

unconscious, negotiations had failed, and the suspect was likely to die if he waswidéd
immediate medical attention for a drug overdose. Here, in contrast, Witeses@onsible for
deafening explosive breach while negotiations were still ongoing and aftehZd instructeq
snipers not to allow Thomas to return inside his housie E.T., despite the fact that the breg
could foreseeably cause Thomas to do exactly tisseHCF 270 at 212.)These two entry order
are not comparablelnstead of reasonably attempting to mitigate the likelihood of death

Medranq Wiley's actions exacerbated that risk.
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D. FourteenthAmendment Deprivation of Familial Relationship (Verdict Question Three

Question Three of the verdict form read:

Plaintiffs E.T., Fred Thomas, and Annalesa Thomas bring a Fourteenth

Amendment claim for deprivation of their familial relationship with Laah

Thomas. Did Michael Zaro cause E.T., Fred Thomas, or Annalesa Thomas to be

deprived of their familial relationship with Leonard Thomag acting with

deliberate indifference to the consequences of his (Zaro’s) actions and dgxision
(ECF 237 at 4.)

The jury found Zaro and Lakewood liableHEdT ., Fred,andAnnalesaon this claim (ECF
237 at 4.) Parents and children may assert Fourteenth Amendment claims if theyiaeel dé
their liberty interest in the companionship and society of their drildarent through officia
conduct.See Lemire v. CaDept. of Corr & Rehab, 726 F.3d 1062, 1075 (9th Cir. 2013) (pare
and children)Smith v. City of Fontana818 F.2d at 1418.9; Curnow v. Ridgecrest Polic852
F.2d 321, 325 (9th Cir. 1991) (parer@yumpton v. Gate®947 F.2d 1418, 14224 (9th Cir. 1991)
(child). However, “the Due Process Clause is violated by executive action batyitvcan be
properly characterized as arbitrary, or conscience shocking, in a coosttutese.” Cty. of
Sacramento v. Lewi$23 U.S. 833, 845817 (1998). The cognizable level of abuse of powg
that which “shocks the conscience” or “violates the decencies of civilized conddcet 846.
Mere negligence or liability grounded in tort does$ meet the standard for substantive due pro
liability. 1d. at 849.

In determining whether an action “shocks the conscience,” the court must firg

“whether the circumstances are such thatual deliberatiofby the officet is practical.” Porter

v. Osborn 546 F.3d 1131, 1137 (9th Cir. 2008)uting Morelandv. Las Vegas Metro. Polic

ts

=]

CESS

5t ask

e

Dept, 159 F.3d 365, 372 (9th Cir. 1998) (internal quotation marks omitted)). “Where actual

deliberation is practical, then an officer's ‘deliberate indifferemoay suffice to shock the
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conscience. On the other hand, where a law enforcement offedess asnap judgmenbecause
of an escalating situation, his conduct may be found to shock the conscience orlgts Wéh a

purpose to harm unrelated to legitimate lawoecément objectives.Hayes v. . of San Diegp

736 F.3d 1223, 1230 (9th Cir. 2013j)tihg Wilkinson v. Torres610 F.3d 546, 554 (9th Cit.

2010)) see also Porter v. Osborf46 F. 3d 1131, 1137-40 (9th Cir. 2008).

Zaro argues the “purpose to harm” standard should apply because he testified thsaf
operating in a timg@ressured environment when he ordered officers to keep Leonard from
E.T. back inside the house and when he issued the order to breach the door. Howevedeiss
were madafter several hours of negotiations and after Leonard had brought E.T. out to thg
with a car seat andvernight bagvith the intent that E.Tbe turned over té&nnalesa The jury
could reasonably have determined that E.T. was at no risk of imminent harm whegavatas
orders, and that the situation was not “escalat[ing] so quickly that the offi@rmake a sha
judgment.” See Porter546 F.3dat 1137 (9th Cir. 2008). Indeed, Defendants conceded in
summary judgment motiohat “Chief Zaro’s decision to breach the door and enter the homg¢
admittedly made after actual deliberation, and the ‘deliberate indiffererasedastl thereforg
applies.” (ECF 57 at 49.)

“Deliberate indifference occurs whethe official acted or fded to act despite hi
knowledge of a substantial risk of serious h&tngolis v. Cty. of Los Angelesl4 F.3d 946, 95]
(9th Cir. 2008)(quotingFarmer v. Brennan511 U.S. 825, 841 (1994)). Accordingly, the ju
was instructed to find for Plaintiffs if actual deliberation was practical and Zsahibited
conscious or reckless disregard for the consequence of his aceeEC§ 220 at 25.) The jur
heard testimony that it was foreseeable that Leonard would react to the loyzkaiad explosior

of the breach by reaching for his childSe@ECF 270 a212.) Because Zaro had instructed
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team, including snipers, not to let Leonard back into the house with E.T., it wderakseeablg
that should Leonard respond to the explosion by grabbing E.T. and retreating to the ¢usg
house, he would be shot and killed despite posing no threat of harm. The jury reas
concluded that Zaro recklessly disregarded these consequences, and thatdohigregean
consequences that an unarmed man might be shot andskitiekls the conscience.

A jury finding that Zaro’s order not to let Leonard return inside his house with BS
deliberately indifferent to the likely consequence that Leonard would beustiddlled for doing
so is sufficient to support liability on this claim, without reference to Zayalsr to breach thq
back door. But even if the Court agreed with Defendants that the sole support for thiesta
on the argument that Zaro’s order to breach the back door provoked the shooting, a direicte
for Defendants still would not be appropriate. Defendants contend that such g fiualiid
necessarily be based on a “provocation theory” that was rejected by then8 pwart inCty. of
Los Angeles v. Mendek37 S. Ct. 1539 (2017). This contention is mistaken, as explained g
Unlike in Mendez where the Supreme Court said a reasonable use of force could not be (

unconstitutional due to nather distinct constitutional violation, here the jufpund that

Defendants’ use of forceincluding Zaro’s authorization of that foreavas itself unreasonabl¢

and was unconstitutional as such. There is no reason to believe the jury applied a “proy
rule” that they were never instructed on and that did not fit the facts or argumesgstpd to
them at trial.

Because liability waproperly found against Zaro, the jury’s verdict on this claim ags

Zaro’s employer, the City of Lakewood, was appropriate as well.
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E. Unreasonable Search and Seizure: Explosive Breach (Verdict Question Four)

Question Four of the verdict form read:
Plairtiffs the Estate of Leonard Thomas, E.T., Fred Thomas, and Annalesa Thomas
bring a Fourth Amendment constitutional claim for unreasonable seizure of their
house through use of the explosive breach. Did any of the Defendants seize
Plaintiffs’ property throagh use of the explosive breach in an unreasonable manner,
or cause their property to be unreasonably seized?
(ECF 237 at5.)
The jury found Zaro, Wiley, and the City of Lakewood liable to E.T., Aesel Fred, ang
Leonard’s Estate, anawarded $125,000 to E.T., $500,000 to Annalesa, $125,000 to Fre(
$125,000 to the Estate for this claim. Defendants argue that this award was improjaeele

because “[c]learly, the jury was awarding damages for the shooting of dedhamas that

occurred after th breach.” (ECF 282 at 13.) Defendants maintain this was impermissible

more) because the jury improperly relied on the Ninth Circuit’s “provocation thesorgt,because

these Plaintiffs were already compensated for the shooting of Leonadathet claims.

The Court disagrees. As discusséve the Supreme Court held that reasonable us
force may not be deemed unreasonable due to a separate constitutional violation,
warrantless entrySee Cty. of Los Angeles v. Mende&7 S. Ct. 1539 (2017). Here, in contrg
the officers did have a valid warrant, but the jury fotimat the officers’ entry was not execut

in a reasonable manner. Even when a warrant is validly issued, the wizagalng‘unreasonably

i, and

(once

174

e of

such as

ISt,

ed

executed.” SeeDalia v. United States#41 U.S. 238, 258 (1979). Given the state of negotiations

with Leonard- he was on the front porch with E.T., a car seat, and an oveb@aghtequesting
Annalesa come to escort E.Fe€ECF 264 at 185} the jury found that the use of an exgive
charge was inherently dangerous and unreasonably destructive. That fiadiagpported by th

evidence.
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Because the jury found in favor of Plaintiffs on several of their claims, thectéodn

provided space for the jury to award damages under Question Ten. (ECF 237 atrldaghf

Plaintiff, the verdict form listed each claim brought by that Plaintiff and a lingaégury to assign
damages for that claim. Thus, for example, Question 10a, as completed by the jurg
follows:

10a. E.T.: For the claims you found in favor of E.T., what damages do you find for
for each claim:

e Unreaonable seizure from his father (Question 1): $ 500,000

(0]

read a

E.T.

e Deprivation of his familial relationship with Leonard (Question 3J. 2,750,000

e Unreasonable seizure of his house (Question 4): $ 125,000

e Unreasonable seizure of his dog (Question 5): /A

e Outrage (Question 8) $ 125,000

¢ Negligent Investigation (Question 9): $__ 500,000

(ECF 2% at 11.)
Defendants conterttiat the jury mistakenlycludeddamages for the shooting of Leona

in their awardor unreasonable seizure of the houdewever, he verdict form clearly delineate

these claims, so that when the jury came to the thiedfindamages related to thereasonable

seizure of the houseg. the explosive breach, it had already awarded $3.25 million to E.T|

damages related to the shooting of Leonard. There is no reason to assume the yagtbati
damagesawardedfor the explosive breackhould include compensation E0T. (or the other
Plaintiffs) for a separate injury on which the jury had already ordered coatjmens

Moreover, the jury awarded substantially more on this claim to Annalesa ($50than(

to E.T., Fred, or the Estate ($125,000) each. If the jury understood this claim to concg
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shooting that followed the breach, this differentiation waukkeno sense because the jury d
not find that the shooting caused substantially more harm to Annalesa than to the oth#sP
(SeeECF 237 at 1112 (awarding Leonard and E.T. greater damages than Annalesa on
related to the shooting, and awarding Fred equal damages to Annalesa orraliiaasto the
shooting).) Rather,it is more likelythejury concluded that Annalesa suffered greater emoti
distress from the unreasonable seizure of the house because, unlike Leonard and &vhed
the house, and unlike Fred, she was present when the explosive breach octhisegteater
emotionaldistress wuld properly produce greater damages awardhus, there is no reason
believe that the jury intended damages awarded for the explosive breach to confplanste
for the shooting of Leonard.

At a hearing held regarding remittitur agdalified immunity on December 5, 2017, fi

months after the close of trial, Defendants for the first time offered an &stinthhe value of thd

Thomas home to argue that the damages awarded for the explosive breach wereeexthes

Courtwill not considerevidencethat was not before the jury when it rendered its verdsee
Young ex rel. Lowman v. Old$68 F. App’x 140, 14@1 (8th Cir. 2006). Moreover, despi

receiving an opportunity to question the jury after the verdict was renderadimggany

inconsistencies or duplication, Defendants declined to do SeeEHCF 2951.) Because the

evidence introduced at trial supported a finding that the explosive breach wa®nabéasnd
that it was the source of destruction and mental anguish totaling the sums awarded by, t
Defendants’ claim isvithout merit

Defendang additionally argue that Wileyonly involvement in the explosive breach w
to relay the order from Zaro to the entry teambhat back of the house, which they argug

insufficient to support liability (ECF 282 at 14.) But the jury heard testimony from Zaro
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“Officer Wiley was asking repeatedly whether he could go ahead aadhte(ECF 263 at 198.
And in his postncident interview, Wiley recalled his role in the breach:

I'm like, ‘All right, all right. Hey sir this is not working. | need to set a charge now.’
... I'm not getting anything, not getting anything like fuck it. ‘Side 3, set that
charge.” Um, then | got the hold. . . . And then finally it was just like, ‘Btagw

this.” Um, | can’t miss another opportunity where he separates from the kid, um.
‘Hey [Cannon] set the charge.’ [Zaro’s] like, ‘yeah, good with that.”. . . ‘Heygeha

is set.” ‘Hey sir, if | get an opportunity you know, I’'m going to have [Cannon’s]
team go through Side 3, we’re going to punch through Side 1." . . . So this time |
get authorization to make the breach.

(Trial Ex. 41 at 35, 40, 42.)
Based on the evidence presented at trial, the jury reasonably determined thata¥ike

butfor cause of the explosive breath.

F. Unreasonable Seizure of the Dog (Verdict Question Five)

Question Five of the verdict form read:

Plaintiffs the Estate of Leonard Thomas and E.T. bring a Fourth Amendment claim

for unreasonable seizure of their dog. Did any of the Defendants unreasonably

seize the dog when they killed him, or cause an unreasonable seizure of the dog?
(ECF 237 at 6.)

The jury found Wiley liable to LeonardEstateon this claim (Id.) Defendants argue th
verdict is legally and logically inconsistent because the jury did not find liabijynst Vancs
even though Vance also shot the @Baxter Defendants explain, “the verdict form did not §

the jury whether Vance and Wiley acted unreasonably when they ‘shdérBaut whether they

aded unreasonably when they ‘killed’ him. Consequently, the verdict would have tthee

1 The Court did not previously dismiss Plaintiffs’ Fourth Amendmentrdaagainst Wileyas Defendants suggeq
To the extent Defendants integpthe Court’s previous orders differently, the Court reconsidesetbrders in light
of the evidence presented at trisdee Moses H. Cone Me. Hosp. v. Mercury Const. C460. U.S. 1, 12 (1983
(“Every order short of a final decree is subject tqperong at the discretion of the district judge.”).
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‘yes’ or ‘no’ for both officers.” (ECF 282 at 16 n.6.) On the contrary, the jury’s verdict ca
reconciled by the fact th&axterwas still alive after Vancshot it and before Wiley shot it. Th
jury could have found that Vance’s use of force was reasonably calibrated to elithentiecat
from the dog, but that Wiley's subsequent decision to kill the dog was unreasgratoliyous.
Even if Defendants didot waive this claim by failing to ask the jury for clarification when gi

the opportunity, their argument fails on the merits.

G. Fred’s Fourth Amendment Seizure Claim (Verdict Question Six)

Question Six of the verdict form read:

Plaintiff Fred Thomas brings a Fourth Amendment constitutional claim for

unreasonable seizure of his person. Did any of the Defendants seizue Fred Thomag

or cause his person to be seized, without legal cause or with excessive force?
(ECF 237 at7.)
The jury found Zaro and @aon but not Micenko (the officer who initially detained Frédple
on this claim (Id.) First, Defendants challenge whether Zaro and Cannon participated in
arrest. Evidence presented at trial revealed that Cannon, the entry team leadethevaack of
house where Fred was arrested. (ECF 263 at 175.) After Micenko stopped Fred, Cannor
Zaro and said, “We’ve got the property owner and the father of the suspect detaineel WaiHe
you like [him]?” Zaro asked, “Other than him generally inserting himsetf th& scene, does an
of his activity warrant going to jail?” Cannon responded, “I guess that depends oodpexative
he is with you guys but you have at least obstructing on him if you want to.” ZdrdHaat’s
what | need, thanks.” (Trial Ex. 1041 at 1d..) Fred was then taken to jail, where he was |
until two detectives and a chaplain arrived to inform him that Leonard had di€&.2@b6 at 133

34, 159.) Based on this evidence, the jury reasonably conclude@ahabn and Zaro jointly

made the decision to take Fred into custody for obstruction of justice.
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Next, Defendants argue that even if Cannon and Zaro were responsible for Fhesd;s
the arrest was supported by probable cause, and holding Cannon and Zaro liable w
inconsistent with the jury’s finding that Micenko was not liable. Fred testifig¢chftex his wife
called him torequest that he leave work and come help with Leonard, Fred drove within
blocks of the house, where police informed him that the roads were closed. (ECF 266 at
Fred decided to walk around to the back of the haliseb the fence, andttempt tovalk over to
talk to Leonard. I¢l. at 126.) Fred testified that as soon aglirabed overthe fence, officerg
yelled at him to put his hands up and to get on the groulddat(128.) Fred further testified th
he complied with the order and explained that he was Leonard’s éattiesimply wanted to tal
to his son irorder to help descalate the conflicand that he was worried his son would be Kill
Nonetheless, h&as arrested and escorted to jaitl. &t 128-30.)

Based on this evidence, the jury could have concluded that Micenko’s initialeseiz
Fred was justified in order to prevent any interference with the ongoing operamoveveét, the
jury may also have reasonably concluded that Zaro’s and Cannon’s decisiomsfortnathat
initial, temporary investigative stop into a full custodial arrest was not sugpoyt@robable
cause. “The Fourth Amendment prohibitsinreasomable searches and seizurdsy the
Government, and its protections extend to brief investigatory stops of persons or \tbhidaié
short of traditional arrest. United Satesv. Arvizy 534 U.S. 266, 273 (2002¢giting Terry v.
Ohio,392 U.S. 1, 9(1968);United States v. Corte249 U.S. 411, 41{1981)) During an
investigatory stop, a police officer may briefly stop and detain an individual fortigatsn
without a warrant if the officer reasonably suspects that the person is érmagkbout to bg
engaged in criminal conducBeeUnited States v. Coljr814 F.3d 439, 442 (9th Cir. 2002). TH

“reasorable suspicion” standard requires less than probable c&eseArvizu534 U.S. aR74-
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76. Thus, the jury may have reasonably concluded that Micenko was not liable for
detaining Fred after Fred crossed the police perimeter, but that A2ath'€annon’slecision to

transform that brief detention into a custodial arrest lacked probable cause.

priefly

Alternatively, the jury may have recognized that when Zaro and Cannon made thendecisi

to take Fred into custody, they had more information about Ffegismate intentions than
Micenko possesseduring the initial detention. By the time Zaro and Cannon decided to
Fred transported to jail, they knew that Fred was the property owner andofaltleenard. Fred

had the opportunity to explain that he merely sought to help resolve the standoff witindL

have

eona

peacefullyby talking to his son Thus, the jury could have concluded that by the time Zarg and

Cannon decided to formalize Fred’s arrest, there was no longer a fair probabiliEyeatidhad

willfully hindered, delayed, or obstructed law enforcement, and therefore there was no r

ational

reason for his arrestAs the Ninth Circuit has held, probable cause for obstruction is not present

where an individual complies with a police order slowly or fails to comply for only @éeands,
See Mackinney v. Nielspf9 F.3d 1002, 10066 (9th Cir. 1995). Viewing the evidence in t
light most favorable to Fred, he did no worse than comply with the officers’ ordevly.s
Because his actions did not supply probable cause for a custodial arrest, and the suioleoits
a finding that Fred’s custodial arrest was ordered by Zaro and Cannontyliahilthis claim

against those two Defendants was not inappropriate.

H. State Law False Arrest (Verdict Question Seven)

Question Seven of the verdict form read:

Plaintiff Fred Thomas brings a claim under Washington state law for fabss.ar
Did the Cities of either Fife or Lakewood, through the actions of their employees
cause Fred Thomas to be falsely arrested on Mag@&B?

(ECF 237 at 8.)
23
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The jury found the City of Lakewood liable to Frewl this claim (Id.) Because Zaro an
Cannon were agents of Lakewood, and liability against them for Fred’s unreasmainte claim
was supported by the evidence, the jury did not err by finding Lakewood liabé aPefendants
note that the Courpreviously granted their Rule 50(a) motion for a directed verdict aga
Lakewood on this claim. (ECF 219 at 3.) This ruling was a typographical error. Veéfidedants
were free tabject to the verdict form on the grounds that it was inconsistent with the Rule
order, they failed to do so. This claim was properly before the jury, and liabilitysagakewood

was supported by the evidence.

I. E.T. and Annalesa’s Outrage Claims (Verdict Question Eight)

Question Eight of the verdict form read:

Plaintiffs E.T. and Annalesa Thomas bring a claim under Washington state
law for outrage against the City of Lakewood. Did the City of Lakewood, through
the actions of its employees, int®nally or recklessly cause severe emotional
distress to E.T. or Annalesa Thomas by outrageous conduct on May 24, 2013?

(ECF 237 at9.)

The jury found the City of Lakewood liable to E.T. and Annatas#his claim (Id.) The
tort of outrage requires the proof of three elements: (1) extreme and outrageous cohg
intentional or reckless infliction of emotional distress, anda¢®)al result to plaintiff osevere
emotional distressKloepfel v. Bokagr66 P.3d 630, 632 (Wa. 2003). Claims for outrage mug
predicated on behavior that is “so outrageous in character, and so extreme in degrem
beyond all possible bounds of decency, and to be regarded as atrocious, and uttedplmial
a civilized community.” Grimsby v. Sampso530 P.2d 291, 295 (Wa. 1975) (internal citatiq

omitted). As Defendants cite, “This cause of action is reserved for the mtosmexof

circumstances, such as forcing a plaintiff to witness the pain and sufféhiggspouse while sh
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died.” McCourt v. Ocwen Loan Servicing, L2012 WL 681787 (W.D. Wash. 2012) (citin
Grimsby 530 P.2d at 295).

Yet Defendants maintain that no facts in this case rise to the level of outraggiryliad
good reason to disagree. Zaro and Wiley orchestrated an opeeatéxuted in critical part b
Markert, whereby an unarmed man who was negotiating the temporagserelehis four year olq
son to the boy's grandmother was subject to an explosive breach of his back door, shq
abdomen, and then repeatedly punched in the face while he died, despite having never th

violence to anyone that night. The cases cited by Defendants recognize tlmmanuistress

inherent in the experience of a close family member’'s deaglg.e.g, Grimsby 530 P.2d at 295,

E.T. was being held in his father’s arms when Leonard was shot and could be heard crying “
Daddy!” (ECF 264 at 186.) Annalesa was on the street in front of the house when ghanh
explosion and gunfire, and said, “Oh my God, they've shot my son.” (ECF 267-&801)5&n
officer had to drag her down the street away from the scétheat 59.) Defendantonsistently
represent théacts in the light most favorable tbemselves andonsistentlyfail to recognize the
scope of Plaintiffs’ loss, and the traumatic nature of the way in which the loss toek pleejury
resoundingly found otherwise. Its finding stands.

Finally, Defendants argue that the award for outrage is duplicative afdbeery E.T. ang
Annalesa won for their Fourteenth Ameneimhdeprivation of familial relationship claims. In fa
however, these claims represent distinct injuries. The Fourteenth Amandiaien represents
the permanent loss of E.T.’s father and Annalesa’s son; the outrage clasergpthe emotiong

trauma of being present when Leonard was killed. Each clains éx@pendently of the other
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J. Negligent Child Abuse Investigation (Verdict Question Nine)

Question Nine of the verdict form reads:

Plaintiff E.T. brings a claim against the Cities of Fife drakewood under

Washington state law for negligence in the investigation which separatecdhm fr

his father. Did a negligent investigation by employees of the Cities of Fife o

Lakewood cause the wrongful permanent removal of E.T. from his father Leonard

Thomas?

(ECF 237 at 10.)

The jury found the Cities of Fife and Lakewood liable to B this claim (Id.) The
relevant statute provides that “A law enforcement officer may take, oe ¢tause taken, a chil
into custody without a court order if there is probable cause to believe that thes @bldsed o
neglected and that the child would be injured or could not be taken into custody if it eessarg
to first obtain a court order.” RCW 26.44.050. The Supreme Court of Washington has recq
that this statutory duty implies a cause of action for children and papenisgligent investigation
where authorities remove a child from a nonabusive hdeeM.W. v. Dep’t of Soc. & Healt
Servs, 70 P.3d 954, 957 (Wa. 2003).

Defendants argue that the statute cannot be implicated because Defendants weng) g
a valid warrant for Leonard’s arrest, and Defendants did not take E.T. listody” due to thg

fact that E.T. was turned over to H#nily. However, trial testimony indicated tHaefendants

decided not to arrest Leonard the night of the incident because the mission of theiorof

gnized

1l

—J

rxecuti

perat

became “get[ting] custody ¢E.T.].” (ECF 263 at 82; ECF 264 at 156.) The jury could reasonjably

have concluded that the force used by Defendants was intended to remove E.T. frostothe
of Leonard and bring him into the custody of law enforcement. The jury could adlerf
concluded that Defendants failed to exercise reasonabléncdu@ir investigation of the need {

remove E.T. from Leonard’s custody, which caused E.T. to be removed frorrahusine home
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by force The fact that Defendants returned E.T. tofausily after they secured custody of hi
does not excuse thmanner in which E.T. was removed from his father's custddgfendarg
also argue that they were improperly denied the opportunity to argud.@ébatrd was g
superseding cause of any harm suffered by E.T. However, the jury was imsinuitie contex{
of the negligent investigation instructions on the principle of arsedang cause. (ECF 220
44.) The fact that the jury found liability despite this instruction indicates trostérmined

Defendants to be the proximate cause of the damages found.

K. Punitive Damages (Verdict Question Eleven)

Question Eleven of the verdict form asked whether punitive damages should be a
against Zaro, Wiley, and/or Markert. (ECF 237 at 13.) Defendants baigflye there was n
evidence that they engaged in the type of conduct that would properly allow thefigsuntive
damages to be placed before the jufy the contrary, once the jury found that Defendants’ act
were unreasonable and violated Plaintiffs’ constitutional rights, it wasnmabke and appropriat]
for the jury to consider the issue of punitive damages. The jury’s conclusion that ¢imel&res’
escalation and use of forcesulting in the death of Leoanexhibited malice, recklessness,
callous indifference to Plaintiffs’ rights was a reasonable conclusisedban the evidenc

presented to them.

27

m

ssessed

D

ons

or




© 0 N o o A w N e

N N NN NN P PR R R R R R R
M N W N B, O © 0 ~N o ;AN W N Rk O

V. DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR REMITT ITUR

Defendants move for remittitur of the compensatory and punitive damages awanitsti
them. (ECF 284.) The jury awarded the following compensatory damages:
To E.T.:
e $500,000 for unreasonable seizure from his father;
e $2,750,000 for deprivation diis familial relationship with Leonard,;
e $125,000 for unreasonable seizure of his house;
e $125,000 for outrage; and
e $500,000 for negligent investigation.
To the Estate of Leonard Thomas:
e $750,000 for unreasonable seizure of his son;
e $1,000,000 for excessiferce;
e $125,000 for unreasonable seizure of his house; and
e $10,000 for unreasonable seizure of his dog.
To Annalesa Thomas:
e $750,000 for deprivation of her familial relationship with Leonard;
e $500,000 for unreasonable seizure of her house; and
e $125,000 for outrage.
To Fredrick Thomas:
e $750,000 for deprivation of his familial relationship with Leonard,;
e $125,000 for unreasonable seizure of his house; and

e $500,000 for false arrest.

28
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Additionally, the jury imposed the following punitive damages:
e $3,000,000 agast Michael Zaro;
e $1,500,000 against Michael Wiley; and
e $2,000,000 against Brian Markert.
(ECF 237 at 12-13.)
In considering a motion for remittitur, the Court views the evidence concerninggeat

in a light most favorable to the prevailing fyarSeymour v. Summa Vista Cinema,,|1869 F.2d

1385, 1387 (9th Cir. 1987mamended on other groundsy 817 F.2d 609 (9th Cir. 1997).

“Generally, a jury’s award of damages is entitled to great deferencehamid $e upheld unles
it is ‘clearly not suported by the evidence’ or ‘only based on speculation or guesswadrkré
First All. Mortg. Co, 471 F.3d 977, 1001, 1003 (9th Cir. 2006) (quotiog Angeles Merh
Coliseum Comm’n v. Nat'| Football Leagu&1 F.2d 1356, 1360 (9th Cir. 1986)An otherwise
supportable verdict must be affirmed unless it is ‘grossly excessive’ or tronos'sor ‘shocking
the conscience.” Brady v. Gebbig859 F.2d 1543, 1557 (9th Cir. 1988juoting Fauntila v.
Carter, 571 F.2d 487, 492 (9th Cir. 1978))hat is, the Court will not substitute its own judgm

for the judgment of the collective conclusion of the jury unless the jury’s awardearlic

[72)

et

unsupported by the evidenceltl. “[Clompensatory damages may be awarded for humiligtion

and emotionalidtress established by testimony or inferred from the circumstancebgwbetot
plaintiffs submit evidence of economic loss or mental or physical symptohostll v. Las Veas
Metro. Police Dep’t 556 F.3d 1075, 1086 (9th Cir. 2009).

Defendants argue that before analyzing the governing legal factors,otire sbould
address the fact that it is “clear” the jury’s decismaking was improperly influenced b

“sentiment in the community about police excessive force against Affinaricans.” (ECF 284
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at 2.) The jury’s findings should be discounted, Defendants’ counsel repeated to the Cog
the December 5, 2017 hearing @ualified immunity and remittitur, because “what the jury foy
here is that they weren’t going to go back to their individual communities andetg@iédple that
they associate with, we found in favor of white cops that shot an unarmed blackThaiCburt
could not more strongly reject Defendants’ argument. Without any evidemtaout any factual
foundation whatsoeverDefendants have chosen to malign one of this country’s most sacreq
institutions, the impartially selected petit jury. Eigndividuals interrupted their lives for thre
and a half weeks of solemn attention to this case. These eight individuals swetheanatter
at issue according to the evidence and the instructions of this Court. They lidtegetdatched,
and for five days they deliberated.

The suggestion that this jury flouted its charge and colluded to hold governmeiat
liable merely to advance the jurors’ individual reputations is not simply fugplb isinsultingto
our constitutional orderAnd the notionthat the American justice system can be characterizg
an illegitimate solicitude for black victims of alleged police misconduct is so painfuifoacal
that one wonders whether Defendants advance this argument seriously. AppBefsetigantg
would have the Court declare a mistrial at this late stage on the basis of jurorigarg
notwithstanding the fact that Defendants successfully moved to preclude thefnmmirgewing
a video on unconscious biase€ECF 146, 163); notwithstanding the falat Defendants only
used two of their three peremptory challengeseECF 168); notwithstanding the fact th
Defendants represented to the Court that they accepted the jury as constaefstiH 261 at
169); notwithstanding the fact that Defendargser requested a continuance or change of ve

notwithstanding the fact, should it even matter, that none of the jurors werenAdnoarican; and
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notwithstanding the fact that all available evidence suggests each juror eshdiuoself or

herself with integrity and impartiality. The Court declines Defendansiast.

Perhaps Defendants intend to argue that the damages awarded in this case were inflated

because of passions and prejudices that clouded the jury’s logical reasdhDeiendants are
in fact, concerned that the jury’s response to the facts of this case may have bexhlno

emotion, they fail to show that those emotions were somehow inappropriate. Thisapi

empaneled to hear a case about a misuse of police power that leftgarganrdead, a child

fatherless, two parents devastated with grief. The law is not so cold and ealltu$orbid an

emotional reckoning with this suffering. The jury need not kaard could not have avoided

lo

y W

the manner and magnitude of the Thomasilfds loss. Indeed, the jury was instructed to acgess

its collective emotional register to consider whether the officials’ condet “shocks the

conscience.” (ECF 220 at 25) It found in the affirmative, and rationally calculateth¢hsound

and fury unleashed by Defendants in May 2013 signified something very specific: $15,135,000 in

damages.

A. Compensatory Damages

Defendats move for remittitur on every claim for which the jury awarded damages.

Court will address each in turn.

1. Jury’'s Awards to E.T.

a. Unreasonable seizure.

The

Defendants request that the $500,000 awarded to E.T. for being unreasonably@eized f

his fatherbe reduced to $25,000 because E. B drdy a vague memory of what occurred that

2In PartVI, below, the Court addresseand rejects- Defendants’ argument that Plaintiffs improperly exploited
racial considerations.
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night. Plaintiffs, however, submitted evidence that E.T. does appear to renmbmbelevant
events. $eeECF 266 at 12.) Defendants seized E.T. from his father by shooting Leonard
he was holding E.T., and then pulling E.T. from Leonard’s arms while he lie dYiegving the
evidence in a light favorable to Plaintiffs, as the Court n&sgmour809 F.3d at 387, this was
all done even though E.T. was motanydangerfrom his father Plaintiffs correctly note that th
evaluation of the magnitude of a child’s trauma is a quintessentially jury queshierColirt finds

that the jury’s award is Beasonable reflection of the kind of trauma evidenced at trial.

b. Deprivation of his famikl relationship with Leonard.

Defendants request that the $2,750,000 awarded to E.T. for the deprivation of his f
relationship with Leonard be reduced to $500,000 because the jury disregarded, amoi
factors that Leonard’s chronic substance abuse problems frequently interfered witHityigaal
parent E.T. Defendants, however, ignore substantial evidence of Leonard’s devotion &od
E.T. (SeeECF 265 at 182-93; ECF 266 at 68; 7275, 93, 119-21, 137-38, 148-54; ECF 267
3739, 12-77.) Leonard was described by those who knew him as a father who loved hi
and lived for his child, serving &T.’s primary caregiver and custodian. When Defendants e
Leonard’s life they also severed one of the most important relationships in EeT.She jury’'s

verdictwill stand

C. Unreasonable seizure of his house.

Defendants request that the $125,000 awarded to E.T. for the unreasonable seizu
house be reduced to $1 because E.T. did not remember the explosive breach and was n
by it. Defendants ignore E.T.’s right not to have the home where he lived seized
unconstitutional manner. An unreasonable violation of the personal home is not simply ar

harm. The jury heard testimony that E.T., who rarely cried, sobbed when reminded of
32
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home and wanted to return even though he knew his father was no longer there. (ECF 26
78.) The damages awarded by the jury for the unreasonable seizure of hisvilono¢ be

adjusted by the Court.

d. Outrage.

Defendants request that the $125,000 awarded to E.T. for outrage be reduced to $1
the damages are duplicative of those awarded on his civil rights causes of actitiage(
however, recognizes damages for personal presence duengjuny of an immediate family
membersee Reid v. Pierce C1y@61 P.2d 333, 337 (Wa. 1998), which is an injury distinct fi
the other claims brought by E.T. E.T. was present in the worst way when his fathkitled—
embraced by Leonard when the bullet hit, and pried from Leonard’s arms athhrsblad to
death. Defendants further argue, “This is an example of the jury seeing asdpilarith a blank
next to it and feeling obligated to fill in a number.” (ECF 284 at 18.) This contentioeykoy
is impossible to square with the jury’s decision not to award any damages to Fexddssive
force during his arrest despite finding Zaro and Cannon liable on that claee=GF 237 at 12.
The verdict reveals that the jury only awarded damages where it deemed an awar
appropriate. Given E.T.’s physical presence when his father was #ike@ourt will not disturby

the amount of the jury’serdict on this claim

e. Negligent investigation.

Defendants request that the $500,000 awarded to E.T. for eecgign the investigatio

that precipitated the entire episode and separated him from his father be redilcbédause th

/Fat 177

because

A4
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d to b

—

D

award was duplicativeMoreover, this was the only claim on which the jury found liability agajinst

the City of Fife, which again suggests that the jury was considering indepertient ar

consequences unique to each claim. Defendants rejected Plaintiffs’ proposedmendiathich
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carefully avoided any possibility of duplicatioseg ECF 208), and declined to raise a
inconsistencies in the completed verdict ferahespite receiving the opportunity to do-sleefore
the jury was dismissedde ECF 2951). Defendants have otherwise failed to carry their buj

of demonstrating duplication, and accordingly the jury’s verdict will not be Oestur

2. Jury’s Awards to the Estate of Leonard Thomas.

a. Unreasonable seizure of E.T.

Defendants requestahthe $750,000 awarded to the Estate for the unreasonable sei;
E.T. be reduced to $50,000 because Leonard could have expected that he was not go
allowed to keep E.T. that night. Defendants ignore that Plaintiff's claim wasmalyshatE.T.
was seized, but that E.T. was seized in a horrific manner. Police seizedomhTLeonard by

shooting Leonard in the stomach and then punching him in the face as they forcibly pulled

from his arms. The anguish and distress that Leonard experienced due tpatat@esupports

the jury’s full award.

b. Excessive force.

Defendants request that the $1,000,000 awarded to the Estate for the excessiveefd
against Leonard be reduced to $500,000 because Leonard was rendered unconsgiol
minutes of the shooting. Notwithstanding Defendants’ unseemly efforts to dinttreighysical
pain and anguish suffered by a dying man, Defendants also ignore the fact thay tvas
instructed to consider in its award of any damafjdse loss of @joyment of life experienced an
that with reasonable probability will be experienced in the fiitarel “Deprivation of life.” (ECF
220 at 46.) These categories go beyond the agony that Leonard experienced ihrtrarignats

of his life to encompass the total sum of his loss. The Court will not disturb the guvgrd
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C. Unreasonable seizure of his house.

Defendants request that the $125,000 awarded to the Estate for the unreasonable s
Leonard’shouse be reduced to $5,000 because it could come as no surprise that his hom
become occupied by the police given the circumstances. As with their argumeinist the
Estate’s award for unreasonable seizure of E.T., Defendants ignore the datonstimanner in
which the seizure of the house occurred. Even though Defendants had a warranteneatel’s
home, theConstitution nonetheless appliéal their method of entry. The method Defenda
chose- an explosive breach ignited when Leonard was unarmed and negotiating theeswofg
E.T. to Annalesa was a dangerous, escalatory, destructive intrusion. The damages daialylg

reflect the jury’s view of the magnitude of that violation.

d. Unreasonable seizure of his dog.

Defendants request théne $10,000 awarded to the Estate for the unreasonable killi
Leonard’s dogBaxterbe reduced to $1 because the dog was in poor health and may ng
survived the first volley of shots fired by Nathan Vance, who was found not liable. Dogs
lose allof their value, however, when they become ill, and Defendants cannot point to unt

evidence in the record that this dog would not have survived but for Wiley’s gratuitol®tul

Leonard’s emotional attachmentBaxterwas apparent from the masmin which he mourned the

dog’s iliness, and that loss supports an award of $10,000.

3. Jury’'s Awards to Annalesa Thomas.

a. Deprivation of familial relationship with Leonard.

Defendants request that the $750,000 awarded to Annalesa for the deprivation
familial relationship with Leonard be daced to $250,000 because Annalesa had a troy

relationship with Leonard and was a domestic violence victim of Leonard on the niglatsh
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killed. The domestic violence in question involved Leorgaabbing Annalesa’s wrist during th
scuffle over @hone. As an example of Annalesa’s troubled relationship with Leonard, Defel
point out that “She wrote a letter to a court in one of Leonard’s criminas,chsgging for
something short of a jail sentence because Leonard was astagedalcoholic Wwo could die
during alcohol withdrawals.” (ECF 284 at 21.) A mother’s begging the court for lenien

behalf of her son, however, seems to be more an example of parental love for her chakal

example of antagonism or estrangement. That love whslacumented during trial, and the jury

witnessed firsthand the grief that Annalesa continues to endBe®, €.9.ECF 267 at 1442.)

The jury’s award was an appropriate calculation of the damages suffereddilgex’s loss of her

child.

b. Unreasonale seizure of her house.

Defendants request that the $500,000 awarded to Annalesa for the unreasonable §
her house be reduced to $5,000 because the evidence does not support the jury’s decasidn
Annalesa a greater sum on this claim thvasawarded to the other Plaintiffs. The jury’s decis
to award a greater sum to Annalesa than to the other Plaintiffs may be explatheddrct that
unlike Leonard and E.T., Annalesa owned title to the house. And unlike Fred, she weas$
when the explosive breach was detonated. The jury could reasonably have concluded tf
variables resulted in greater damages to Annalesa. The fact that Annalesansanthe police
to help deescalate a minor conflict with her son was not a license for an unconslitutionténat

damaged her house and exacerbated the standoff.

C. Outrage.
Defendants request that the $125,000 awarded to Annalesa for outrage be reduc

because she did not see Markert’s bullet strike Leonard. Defendants provideiom, titatever,
36
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for a requirement that Annalesa physically witness the shooting. Annadssaresent at th
scene, heard the explosion and gunfire that killed her child, and exclaimed, “Oh my Gog,
shot my son.” (ECF 267 at 15.) This is precisely the type of emotional trauma for wh
outrage damages are intended to compensdeGrimsby v. Sampson30 P.2d 291, 295 (W4

1975)

4. Jury’s Awards to Fredrick Thomas.

a. Deprivation of his familial relationship with Leonard.

Defendantsask that the $750,000 awarded to Fred for the deprivation of his fai
relationship with Leonard be reduced to $300,000 because “Fred'’s relationship with heags3
a troubled one.” (ECF 284 at 22.) On the contrary, the jury heard extensive testinoomyhe
enduring, loving, fatheson bond between Fred and LeonaiSed, e.g.ECF 266 at 1143, 139
41; ECF 267 at 389, 17071.) The jury was entitled to credit this testimony and award

$750,000 for the loss of his son.

b. Unreasonable seizuog his house.

Defendants ask that the $125,000 awarded to Fred for the unreasonable seizure of 1
be reduced to $1 because Fred did not suffer any harm as a result of his house beinglsei
jury found that the police caused unreasonable destruction to a home Fred owned, and tha
is supported by the evidence. The violation of residential property is not a triviar.m@he

Court cannot say that the jury’s award was “grossly excessive.”

C. False arrest.

Defendants ask that the $500,000 awarded to Fred for false arrest be reduced to

because the jury “essentially awarded Fred damages for the lost opportunityttheratandoff
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to a peaceful resolution.” (ECF 284 at 23.) Defendants have not provided any citatiorerg
for why the jury was not permitted to consider the circumstances of the arrest amaotienal
toll that Fred endured during his wrongful confinement. The jury found that Zaro aanmbc]
ordered Fred to be removed from the scene even though Fred had explained thatthe
property owner and simply wanted to speak with his son. Regardless of whetheolHdeldave
successfully contributed to resolving the standoff had he been permitted to rema
consequences of removing him were severe. He wrongfully spent the night inumakele to
speak to his wife or son during this critical moment in their lives. He testifiedt tn that cagd
all night long, knowing my son was dead.” (ECF 266 at 134.) The following morning two ®f
and a chaplai arrived to inform Fred that Leonard had indeed been killed. When police ret
Fred’s cellphone he saw a missed aalll voicemaifrom Leonard where, Fred testified, “He be
me, ‘Please help me, Dad. Please help me, Dad,” and | never heard it till tdeyW&XECF 266
at 168.) The jury had an opportunity to observe Fred testify and view higadpidible grief. Itg

award for the false arrest of Fredsigpported by the evidence presented to the jury.

B. Punitive Damages

we

was

n, the

ficer

urned

gs

The jury imposed punitive damages against Zaro in the amount of $3 million, against

Markert in the amount of $2 million, and against Wiley in the amount of $1.5 million. Defsnda

argue that the punitive damages award was unreasonable and violated the Corstibutig
Process Clase. The Court assesses reasonableness through analysidHzfrtimedndactors”:

(a) whether there is a reasonable relationship between the punitive damagkes awa
and the harm likely to result from the defendant’s conduct as well as the harm that
actually occurred,;

(b) the degree of reprehensibility of the defendant’s conduct, duration of that
conduct, the defendant’s awareness, any concealment, and the existence an
frequency of similar past conduct;
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(d) the “financial position” of the defendant;
(e) all the costs of litigation;

(f) the imposition of criminal sanctions on the defendant for its conduct, these to b
taken in mitigation; and

(9) the existence of other civil awards against the defendant for the sathet;
these also to be taken in mitigation.

Morgan v. Woessng®97 F.2d 1244, 1257 n.14 (9th Cir. 19€R)otingPacific Mut. Life Ins. Co
v. Haslip 499 U.S. 1, 2R2 (1991)) The Court may alstook to “other general elements
reasonableness to determine whether a punitive damage award should be upheld. The
picture must not be lost.Id. at 1257. “The task of the court is a comparison between the an
of punitive damages actually assessed and a figure derived from theffdrscase at hand. T
arrive at this figure, the court should look to awards in similar cases anddtentexperience.’
Id.

The Hammondactors support a finding that the jury’s award was reasonable. The

caused and reprehensibility exhibited by the Defendants warrantscaghifondemnation. The

Defendants have not been subject to any other civil or criminal sanction, and they haome

Df

2 broader

nount

0

harm

Dt

the costs of litigation. Indeed, this jury verdicthe only form of accountability Defendants face

for their conduct.

The sole factor that mighdise a question about the amount of the avgaite Defendants
financial position. Defendants argue thatpleitivedamages amount to “the financial equivalg
of a death sentence” because they failed to “take into account the financial realit®sgoa
career police officer.” (ECF 284 at 6.) There are two problems with thisrent. First, “Therg

is no constitutional prohibition of awards in excess of a party’s net wolwe v. Corr. USA
39




© 0 N o o A w N e

N N NN NN P PR R R R R R R
M N W N B, O © 0 ~N o ;AN W N Rk O

506 F. App’x 657, 660 (9th Cir. 2013ee also Kemezy v. Peter9® F.3d 33, 36 (7th Cir. 1996

(“The reprehensibility of a person’s conduct is not mitigated by his not beich person, ang
plaintiffs are never required to @lpgize for seeking damages that if awarded will precipitate
defendant into bankruptcy.”). While this factor may weigh in Defendants’ favor, nbtg
dispositive.

Second, Defendants may not argue that the jury unreasonably failed to consi
Defendants’ financial position when Defendants made the strategic choicepnesént evidenc
of their finances to the jury. The Ninth Circuit has refrained from intagewith a punitive

damages award when defendants offered no evidence of theicifihahility to pay. SeeTri-

Tron Intl v. Veltq 525 F.2d 432, 438 (9th Cir. 197%), Ranco, Inc. v. First Nat'l Bank of Ney.

the

b

der the

11%

406 F.2d 1205 (9th Cir. 1968)ert. denied396 U.S. 875 (1969). This is a common rule across

the country.See, e.g.Schaub v. VonWald638 F.3d 905, 926 & n.14 (8th Cir. 2011) (“as a matter

of federal law, it is a defendant’s burden to introduce evidence of net worth for purpo
minimizing a punitive damages awardProvost v. City of Newburgl262 F.3d 146, 1684 (4
Cir. 2001) (“The duty then is on the defendanptesentevidence, before the jury renders

verdict . . . of his limited resources if he wishes that factor to be weighed in théataic of

punitive damages.”)Mason v. Okla. Turnpike Authl82 F.3d 1212, 1214 (10th Cir. 1999)

(“plaintiff does not bear the burden of demonstrating defendant’s financial cohdik@mezy
79 F.3d at 36 (samejutchinson v. Stucke952 F.2d 1418, 1422 n.4 (D.C. Cir. 1992) (“the wei

of authority places othe defadantthe burden of producing evidence of his own finan

condition if he wishes it considered by the jurfzlshman v. Clancy7/63 F.2d 485, 490 (1st Cif.

1985)(declining to overturn a jury verdict where the defendants “failed to caeaeord of thein

financial capabilities”). Defendantsannot argue their inability to pay at this stage whern

40

ses of

ght

Cial

no




© 0 N o o A w N e

N N NN NN P PR R R R R R R
M N W N B, O © 0 ~N o ;AN W N Rk O

evidenceon the mattewas introduced during trial. The Court will not second guess the jul
considering evidence that the jury did not have before it.

An award of punitive damages must also be consonant with the Due Process Claus
Fourteenth Amendment. The Supreme Court has identified three “guideposts” for o0
consider when reviewing the constitutionality of a punitive damages award:

(1) the degree of reprehensibility of the defendant’s misconduct;

(2) the disparity between the actual or potential harm suffered by the plamdiff
the punitive damages award; and

(3) the difference between the punitive damages awarded by the juryeacigiit
penalties authorized or imposed in comparable cases.

State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Campp888 U.S. 408, 418 (2003).

“Perhaps the most important indicium of the reasonableness of a punitive damagke
is the degree of reprehensibiliby the defendant’'s conduct.BMW of N. Am.Inc. v. Gore 517
U.S. 559, 575 (1996). The jury obviously found that the type of harm and reprehensible ¢
revealed at trial were unusually sevezgen for a wrongful death case. At every step of
evening after Annalesa and Thomas first asked the police for help resolving Efiershould
spend the night, Defendants escalated the probability that someone would die.spbeged to

a minor domestic dispute with a full SWAeamincluding two armored trucks and two snipe|

y by

se of the

urts t

5 awa

onduct

the

[S.

When Leonard brought E.T. onto the porch in preparation to hand him off, Zaro ordered hjs team

— including the snipers- not to let Leonard back inside with his son. Wiley orchestrate
explosive breach that destabilized/drope for a peaceful resolution. Markert shot and killeg
unarmed man who was holding his son in his arms. Unlike civilians, police officeraiaegl tto
respond to tense conflicts with equipoise and empathy. Instead, taking the factggint thest

favorable to the verdict, these three defendants exhibited conduct that was reukldestmed
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to cause harm. The Supreme Court has recognized that conduct causing physicalnhaire
reprehensible than conduct causing merely economic harm, and conduct tbed edifference
or reckless disregard for the health or safety of others is more likely tepisheasible than {
mere accident.ld. at 57576. The intentional acts here resulted in the most tragic of phy
harms: death

“The second and perhaps most commonly cited indicium of an unreasonable or ex
punitive damages award is its ratio to the actual harm inflicted on the plaimtiffat 580. This
can be measured by calculating the ratio between punitive @asnaag compensatory damag

Id. The Supreme Court has recognized a punitive damages award of more than fothei

amount of compensatory damages might be close to the constitutiondtlia¢581. Here, the

punitive damages imposed against edeffendant are less than the compensatory dam
assessed against them. The jury’'s awdmrels not exceethe bounds of reasonability and d
process.

Finally, the Court may assess the constitutionality of a punitive damaged awg

A

sical

cessive
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ages
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comparing the verdicco damages imposed in comparable cases. Defendants have compiled a

spreadsheet of 64 appellate cases reviewing the jury’s assessment of plamtages to shoy

that the mean award, adjusted to present value, is $370,479. (ECF 29y gt Bhis spradsheet]

suffers an obvious deficiency: it includes all cases where the jury awardededainages, fof

any claim. That a jury assessed $5,000 in a Fair Housing Act astier-buntila v. Carter571
F.2d 487, 4889th Cir. 1978)) or $10,000 for a Firimendment violationgee Acost&epulveda
v. Hernandez®urcell, 889 F.2d 9, 13 (1st Cir. 1989)) is singularly unhelpful when determi
the appropriate range of damages for Fourth and Fourteenth Amendmemnsalaat resulted

in the loss of life. Of further concern, Defendants omit the most analogousEsdsts of

42

V

ning




© 0 N o o A w N e

N N NN NN P PR R R R R R R
M N W N B, O © 0 ~N o ;AN W N Rk O

Moreland v. Dieter 395 F.3d 747 (7th Cir. 2005). Moreland the jury awarded a combing
$27.5 million in punitive damages against two sheriff's deputies after fintieg tiable for
wrongfully causing the death of an individual by the use of unnecessary and exfssive&395
F.3d at 751. The much smaller award here was properly calibrated to punish and deter.
Given the evidence presented at trial, the compensatory and punitive damagss\aem|
well within the jury’s prerogativand the Court will not disturb them. Defendants’ Motion

Remittitur (ECF 284) is DENIED.

V. DEFENDANTS’ MOTION FOR QUALIFIED IMMUNITY

Defendants move for qualified immunity pursuant to Rule 50(b) for the follo
individuals:
e Mike Zaro (for the Fourth Amendment and Fourteenth Amendment claims resudting
his orders that led to the shooting of Leonard and the sixpldreach);
e Brian Markert (for the Fourth Amendment claims resulting from his shootihgarfard);
e Mike Wiley (for the Fourth Amendment and Fourteenth Amendment claims resutimg
his participation in the explosive breach and for shooting the dog); and
e Jason Cannon (for the Fourth Amendment claims resulting from his participation
arrest of Fred).
(ECF 280.)
Three questions must be addressed to resolve this motion. First, did Defendant
their qualified immunity claims? Second, did Defendants commit a constitutional \n@latind
third, if a constitutional violation was committed, would a reasonable officer havenkhaivthe

conduct was unconstitutional? The Court will address each in turn.
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A. Waiver

1. Markert, Wiley, Cannon

The Supreme Court has formulated the doctrine of qualified immunity to dispd
“insubstantial claims” at the earliest stage of litigation possiBleeHarlow v. Fitzgerald457
U.S. 800, 818 (1982)iunter v. Bryant502 U.S. 224, 227 (199()W]e repeatedly have stressq
the importance of resolving immunity questions at the earliest possible stiigaiioh.”). Thus,
defendants typically assert qualified immunity in a motion to dismiss or motiorufiomary
judgment. At those stages, a court may graiadified immunity if the plaintiffs have not mag
out a constitutional violation, based on the facts alleged or “sho8eePearson v. Callahar§55
U.S. 223, 232 (2009).

Markert, Wiley, and Cannon raised qualified immunity in a motion to the Couhddirst
time in their Rule 50(a) motion for a directed verdict on July 3, 2017. (ECF 184.) Plargifis
that by failing to raise qualified immunity in a motion to dismiss or motion for summary grug
and by failing to request special verdictexnt to a qualified immunity defense to the jury,
defense has been waived. Where the jury’s verdict “necessarily rel[ies] on fatings which
are determinative of the immunity issue[,] district courts may be required ti spécial verdictg

on the factual issues needed to determine entitlement to qualified immuBlibyrian v. Tadlogk]

se of

2d

e

M

the

21 F.3d 1462, 1469 n.9 (9th Cir. 1994). The Second Circuit has also held that, “To the extent that

a particular finding of fact is essential to a determination by the court that #reldet is entitled

to qualified immunity, it is the responsibility of the defendant to request that theguasked the

pertinent question. . . . If the defendant does not make such a request, he is not entitled to
court, in lieu of the jury, make the factual findingZellner v. SummerliM94 F.3d 344, 368 (2

Cir. 2007) Moreover, Plaintiffs note, the Ninth Circuit has held that a district owaytonly
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submit qualified immunity to the jury where “historical facts material to the qualified intyn
determination are in disputeConnor v. Heiman672 F.3d 1126, 1131 (9th Cir. 2012).

None of these cases support a finding of complete waiver, howe&vennor simply
prohibits juries from resolving the legal elements of qualified immunity, whiarhisthe Court
denied Defendants’ requested jury instruction that would have had the jury do soSesteCK
119.) Slomanand Zellner, meanwhile, prohibit judges from resolving the factual element
qualified immuniy. Because the jury found Defendants liable, and because none
Defendants requested special verdicts on any factual issues, all factual dibplltbe resolved
in favor of Plaintiffs. As discussed below, however, that factual deferencendbeampletely
resolve the qualified immunity inquiry because the legal elememhether the constitutions
prohibition was “clearly established’remains for the Court’s determination. That determina
can be made at any time, even after trial.

In Hill v. McKinley 311 F.3d 899 (8th Cir. 2002), the Eighth Circuit addressed the di
court’s posttrial denial of qualified immunity where the defendant did not submit any sp
verdicts to the jury. The Court explained:

The defendants raised the qualifimmunity defense in their answer to Hill’s third

amended and substituted complaint, but did not file a motion for summary

judgment, as is the usual practice. Although the defendants did not receive the
benefit of an early resolution to their claimapfalified immunity, the defense is

not waived by failure to assert it by motion prior to tri@ln appeal from a post

trial rejection of a qualified immunity defense, we consider the evidence in a light

favorable to the prevailing party.”

311 F.3d at 90Zcitations omitted)
In an unpublished decision, the District of Arizona construed Ninth Circuit precex

permit qualified immunity to be raised for the first time on the fourth day of tHaEThompson

v. City of Tucson Water D&pNo. CIV 0153-TUC-FRZ, 2006 WL 3063500, at *6 n.14 (D. Ari
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Oct. 27, 2006) (“[A]s the Ninth Circuit has generally found that qualified immunitybearaised
in a Rule 50 motion, the Court will err on the side of caution and find that the qualifiathitgn
defense has not beeraiwed.”).

Thus, the Court concludes that Markert, Wiley, and Cannon did not waive their qu
immunity claims by waiting until their Rule 50(a) motion to formally raise the issubddCourt’s

resolution.

2. Zaro

While Defendants’ Rule 50(a) motion for judgment as a matter of law argued treatkd|
Cannon, Markert, and Wiley were entitled to qualified immunity, it did rsserd qualified
immunity for Zaro. (ECF 184.) “When a qualified immunity claim cannot be resolvecehatdr
due to a factual conflict, it is a litigant’s responsibility to preserve thé ilegige for determination
after the jury resolves the factuanflict. A Rule 50(a)motion meets this requirementTortu v.
Las Vegas MetrdRolice Dep’t 556 F.3d 1075, 1083 (9th Cir. 2009). The “failure to fiRude
50(a)motion precludes consideration oRale 50(b)motion for judgment as a matterlaw.” Id.

Thus, Plaintiffs argue, Zaro’s claim has been waived and may not be ieetEn@w.
Defendants respond that they did argue against liability for Zaro inRhé&r50(a) motion on th
grounds of insufficient evidence, and that this was aaleqto preserve the claim for qualifig
immunity because the insufficient evidence arguments overlap substanithllyhe qualified

immunity arguments. The First Circuit has confronted this exact silyatnd held otherwise. |

—

alified

N

117}

A4
o

n

Parker v. Gerrish547 F.3d 1 (1st Cir. 2008), the Court considered a case where the defendant

argued insufficiency of the evidence in a Rule 50(a) motion without mentioning qud
immunity, and subsequently moved for qualified immunity under a Rule 50(b) motion. The

held this was too late:
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[The] Rule 50(a)notion only argued that the evidence was insufficient to support
a finding of a constitutional violation. Though Gerrish stated that there were tw
issues, he only argued the excessive force issue. Gerrish digaunify qualified
immunity as the legal basis for his motion or give the district court judge aigequ
notice that he was renewing that claim in this conteaeUnited States v.
Samboy433 F.3d 154, 161 (1st Cir. 2005) (“To raise an argument on apeal,
party mustspell out its arguments squarely and distinctly . . . or else forever hold
its peace.” (quotingRivera-Gomez v. de Castr843 F.2d 631, 635 (1st Cir.
1988))). Accordingly, his qualified immunity defense is waived.

Though we have discretidio relieve a party from the normal consequences of
failure to proffer a defense” in a timely manner, we do so only to prevent a
“miscarriage of justice” where “error is plain” and the equities heavily favor
correcting that erroCorrea,69 F.3d at 1196/Ne need not conduct a detailed
examination of the waived qualified immunity arguments to conclude that no such
circumstances are presented here.

547 F.3d at 125ee alsdsom v. Town of Warre®60 F.3d 7, 9 (1st Cir. 2004) (“[D]efendants ¢

not raise mmunity as an issue at the time of their Rule 50 motion, and so they have waiv

defense as a grounds for the motiorPipvost v. City of Newburgl262 F.3d 146, 161 (2d Cir.

2001) (“Becausethedefendant officer] did not specifically include a qualified immunity argun
in his preverdict request for judgment as a matter of law, he could not have included s
argument in his post-verdict motion even had he attempted to do so.”).

Accordingly, Zaro has waived his qualified immunity defense. |alieenative, he woulg

not be entitled to qualified immunity on the merits, as discussed below.

B. Constitutional Violation

“A defendant will receive qualified immunity if one of two conditions are met. H
immunity will be applied if the plaintiff has héalleged’ or ‘shown’ facts that would make out
constitutional violation.Second, even if the Plaintiff has shown such a violation, the defend

entitledto qualified immunity if the constitutional right allegedly violated was not ‘cje
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establibied’ at the time of defendant’s alleged misconduét.D. v. California Highway Patrol
712 F.3d 446, 453-54 (9th Cir. 2018)tations omitted)

A.D. provides an analogous situation where qualified immunity was requestediaftg

tr

=

The Ninth Circuit emphasized the iompance of deferring to the jury’s verdict in determining the

first prong of qualified immunity analysis, whether Plaintiff has “showtsfd@at would make out

a constitutional violation.”712 F.3 at 453.The Court said that Markgraf, the defendant offig

was not entitled to qualified immunity because “Plaintiffs have done more than ‘shat

Markgraf violated their due process rightgshey proved it to a jury.”ld. at 456. The Courg

explained that “the verdict precludes us from hypothesizing about whether Marbgidhave
believed that a legitimate law enforcement objective existed” because “deferémegiry’s view
of the facts persists throughout each prong of the qualified immunity inquld..(quoting
Guillemard-Ginorio v. ContrerasGomez585 F.3d 508, 528 (1st Cir. 2009)). “According to{
jury’s view of the facts, Markgraf shot Eklund without a legitimate law erfoent objectives
We would not be deferring to that view if we now held that Markgraf was entitled tibieplig
immunity, becausedcould havebelieved a legitimate law enforcement objective existed u
the circumstances. Although such an inquiry might be appropriate when a defasskens
gualified immunity in a motion for summary judgment or ayeedict JMOL motion, the jurg

view of the facts must govern our analysis once litigation has ended with a juryst.verdi at

45657 (emphasis in original). “[P]oskerdict, a court must apply the qualified immun
framework to the facts that the jury found (including the defendant’s subjecterg)i” Id. at

459. The Ninth Circuit recognized that the jury’s factual findings could be lbgingerred by

viewing the jury’s verdict in light of the jury instructionkd. at 456 n.5.
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The importance of deferring to a jury’s fact finding when deciding a motion forfigdal
immunity was also discussed @orcoran v. Fletcher160 F. Supp. 2d 1085 (C.D. Cal. 200
The court explained, “[D]espite the difficulty in applying qualified immunaye thing is certain
and, for the purposes of this case, dispositive. That is, where essential histotscabhcerning
what an official knew or did are in dispute, ‘it is clear that these are questicang &ifthe jury
to determine.” 160 F. Supp. 2d at 1090 (quotidgadwates Forest Defense v. Cty.
Humboldt 240 F.3d 1185, 1207 (9th Cir. 2000)). “Put simply, ‘the jury, not the judge, must d
the disputed ‘foundational’ or ‘historical’ facts that underlie the determinatiold:”(quoting
Acosta v. City and County of San Francisg®,F.3d 1143, 1147 (9th Cir.1996)). T@Gercoran
court also recognized that a jury award of punitive damages renders qualifiaghityni
particularly unlikely:

Furthermore, the special verdicts (i.e., the Punitive Damages Special \Ferdigt
indicate that the jury not only found there was no probable cause for Corcoran’s
arrest, but that Fletcher was either “malicious or in reckless disregardaufr@os
constitutional rights” and so merited punitive dama&esl_arez v. Holcombl6

F.3d 1513, 1518 (9th Cir. 1994¢bserving in context of faulty jury instruction that
the jury’s award of punitive damages “provides a strong indication that the jury did
not find the [officer's] account persuasive,” and citBgnigni v. City of
Hemet,879 FE2d 473, 480 (9th Cir. 1988), for the proposition that “the jury’s award
of punitive damages indicated that the jury found the police officer's conduct
unreasonable”). Indeed, it would be entirely inconsistent with the jury'slyclear
supportable finding @t Fletcher was either malicious or reckless indidw@al of
Corcoran’s rights to then conclude that his conduct is entitled to
immunity. SeeHamilton v. Endell981 F.2d 1062, 1066 (9th Cir. 1992A finding

of deliberate indifference necessarily prelds a finding of qualified immunity.”).

Therefore, because the jury instructions demonstrate that the jury must have
determined that Officer Fletcher not only lacked probable cause to arrestaborcor
but did so unreasonably, and because this Court Hatighe jury’s determination

was sufficiently supported by the record, this Court hereby denieshéiistc
assertion of qualified immunity.

Id. at 1090-91.
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When a jury has rendered a verdict against a defendant claiming qualified igrthusn
defendanis not without recourse. Th&.D. Court suggested that the defendant could dirg
attack the sufficiency of the evidence to support the jury’s verdict, mkatia jury instructiong
as inadequate statements of clearly established law. 712 F.3d at 459.

The jury verdicthereis sufficient to recognize that each of the Defendants commiti
constitutional violation. Zaro argues that his command “don’t let him go back entmtise with
that kid” was not an order to kill. Wiley argues that he was not directly respoffsibilee
explosive breach and was justified in shooting Leonard’s dog because the dog neatotget
back up after it had been shot. Markert argues he was justified in shootingd_déecause
Leonard was holding E.T. in a threatening manner. Cannon argues he was not involeddi
arrest and that the arrest was justified by probable cause for obstrucjisticé#. The jury’'s
verdict refutes all of these claims.

The jury found that Zaro caused excessive force to be used against Leonard and
Plaintiffs’ property to be unreasonably seized, and found Zaro’s actions so refdskEhtai it
imposed $3 million in punitive damages against him. The jury found that Wiley causedf®1a]
property to be unreasonably seized, caused excessive force to be used agaimdi had
unreasonably seized the dog, and found his behavior so reckless and malicious tisatill $4s§
million in punitive damages. The jury found that Markert used excessive fanetgeonard,
which meas it must not have believed his account of the way Leonard was holding E.T|
assessed $2 million in punitive damages. Finally, after being instructed on théathefhi
obstruction and probable cause, the jury found Cannon guilty of causing Fred to devitbiaet

legal cause.
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Defendants counter that a number of undisputed facts weigh in their favor. Theyrag

the officers were told that Leonard had a pistol and that he had hung his son out of ss®gg
window, that the officers knew Leonard was agitated, and that the officers katwebnard
never released E.T. during the course of the four and a half hour standoff. Defendants wo
the Court focus on these facts in isolation, without reference to the evidencetestlyi
Plantiffs, to find that Defendants’ use of force was constitutional. But even if the @ete to
give credence to Defendants’ novel form of “deference” to the jury’sngslithey would no
prevail. That an agitated man may have a pistol, and may have held his son dangeross

earlier, does not supply constitutional authorization for his killing. The shootirgpoiard could

only be justified if Leonard posed an immediate threat to the safety ofrefbcéo others. This

disputed fact required a jury trial, and the jury supplied a unanimous answer: No he did 1
the extent Defendants have challenged the sufficiency of the evidence to supp@bitite

findings GeeECF 282), the Court has rejected these argunmeitart Il above

C. Clearly Established Law

The final question is whether these constitutional violatibmsnd were “clearly

established at the time of the challenged condugsficroftv. al-Kidd, 563 U.S. 731, 735 (2011).

“A Government official’'s conduct violates clearly established law whenhattime of the

challenged conduct, ‘[tlhe contours of [a] right [are] sufficientlgac! that every ‘reasonable

official would have understood that what he is doing violates that rigtt.4t 741 (alterations in
original) (quotingAndersorv. Creighton 483 U.S. 635, 640 (1987)). The Supreme Court ¢
not “require a case directly on point, but existing precedent must have placgt@tthiery or

constitutional question beyond debatéd
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The “clearly established’ inquiry is a question of law tlealy a judge can decide.

Morales v. Fry 873 F.3d 817, 821 (9th Cir. 2017). An Eighth Circuit ciskéy. McKinley, 311

F.3d 899 (8th Cir. 2002), provides an example of when qualified immunity may be appropriate

after a jury returns a guilty verdicfThere, the plaintiff had been arrested for public intoxication

and brought to jail, where, she testified, she was strapped naked to a restrairdngibitée to
male guards, for three hours. 311 F.3d at@81 Consistent with the jury’s verdict agst the
prison officials, the Court held that plaintiff's “Fourth Amendment rightseweolated when the
defendants allowed her to remain completely exposed to male guards for a sulpstaateof
time after the threat to security and safety had jpiassé. at 903. However, the Court continueq
“Although we conclude that the facts establish a constitutional violation, vexyéd¢he defendant
were entitled to qualified immunity on the ground that their actions did not violaaeyc
established law” because “we cannot say as a matter of law that it was clearly establi<#D6
that a highly intoxicated, loud and violent prisoner could not constitutionally be redtraiked
outside the view of all but a small number of guardsl”’at 9G4-05 Accordingly, the Court’g

task is to resolve all factual disputes in favor of Plaintiffs, and then detewhetber Defendantg

actions would have been clearly unconstitutional on the night of the shooting, May 24, 201

1. Excessive force against Leonard.

As for the shooting of Leonard, we must resolve the dispute about the way Leona
holding E.T. in favor of Plaintiffs and ask whether it was clearly establishegdhee may not
authorize or use lethal force against a suspect who is not threatening itenhada. It plainly

was. As the Ninth Circuit recently recounted, citing caseslatieg 2013, “If a jury determing

that [a plaintiff] no longer posed an immediate threat, any deadly forcased after that time

violated longsettled Fourth Amendment lawwVe have cases holding that the use of deadly f
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against a notthreatening suspect is unreasonabléién v. Qy. of Orange 874 F.3d 1072, 107
(9th Cir. 2017) (citingTennessee. Garner, 471 U.S. 1, 1412 (1985);Harris v. Roderick 126
F.3d 1189, 1201 (9th Cir. 1997)). “While locating the outer contours of the Fourth Amen
may at times be a murky business, few things in our case law are as clearlghesdahd the
principle that an officer may not seize an unarmed, nondangerous suspect by shooting i
the absence of probable cause to believe that the suspect poses a threat gitsaiimalsharm,
either to the officer or to othersTorres v. City of Madere648 F.3d 1119, 1128 (9th Cir. 201
(citations and alterations omitted).

The Ninth Circuit has identified and established constitutional violations in céses

with facts that overlap with this one. For example, the Court denied qualified imnuithieyEBI

agents involved in the Ruby Ridge siegeHarris v. Roderick 126 F.3d 1189 (9th Cir. 1997).

After an initial outdoor firefight between agents and Plaintiff Harris, Wearet Weaver's sof
Sammy left one agent and Sammy dead, Harris and Weaver retreated to Weaver'26abi&d
at 1193. An FBI team created rul@sengagement providing that any armed adult male obsq
in the vicinity of the cabin “could and should be killedldl. At approximately 6:00 pm thg
following day, Harris, Weaver, and Weaver’'s daughter Sarah exited the cabapproached {
nearby shed, where Sammy had been prepared for blgtiaDefendant Horiuchi, an FBI snipe
shot Weaver in the back, and after Weaver called out for his wife Vickie, Horirezhiaf secong
shot that passed through Vickie and hit Harfds.at 1193-94.

Horiuchi argued that the “shot he fired while Harris was trying to return to the weisii
objectively reasonable because Harris presented a greater danger when he was in tihang
when he was outside, and it was therefore necessary to prevent him fnoeninge’ I1d. at 1203.

The Court disagreed: “One of the many problems with Horiuchi’'s argument ithéhédrce hej
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used was designed to kill Harris, not simply to stop him from reentering the cabinuntiea all
of the circumstances Harris’s effod teturn to the cabin he had left only minutes before did
justify so extreme a measure should have been apparent to any reasonable legments
officer.” Id. Moreover, the Court noted, “[e]ven though Harris was armed, he made no agg
move ofany kind when Horiuchi started shooting; instead, with the others, he ran back tosv
cabin from which they had recently emergedd’ Thus, “[e]xamining Horiuchi’s actions fror]
the perspective of a reasonable law enforcement officer faced witle¢loeto make othe-spot
decisions, it is plain to us that his actions were not objectively reason#éthleThe use of deadly
force, the Court concluded, is not permitted “to kill a suspect who is running back to a cabir
he is temporarily stayingnd who makes no threatening movement of any kind, even thoug
suspect had engaged in a shoot with law enforcement officers on the previous day and
have been the person responsible for the death of one of the offilers.”

Defendants here f#fred similar reasoning to justify the order not to allow Leonard to rq

inside his house, and for firing the shot that effectuated that order. Because sualasoimend

clearly proscribed iHarris, where the plaintiff was suspected of killing aBlagent and was

armed at the time he was shot, the violation is all the more obvious here, wheaedLeas
unarmed and the jury verdict squarely rejected Defendants’ alternative theorieonard’s
decision to pick up E.T. after the explosive breach was harmful or threatening.oféayaélified

immunity is denied as to Zaro, Wiley, and Markert for the excessive fordeaga@nst Leonard.

2. Explosive lveach.

As for the explosive breach, the Ninth Circuit held the use of a similarli@sty device
to be unconstitutional iBoyd v. Benton ., 374 F.3d 773 (9th Cir. 2004). Boyd police officers

secured a search warrant to enter an apartment to recover jewelry and a finganrofes robbery
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investigation. 374 F.3d at 77&. A SWATTeamwas enlisted to secure the apartment be
conducting the search due to the fact that an armed robbery suspect vaasasg, the firearn
had yet to be recovered, another individual connected to the apartment had attempted t®
an assault rifletwo armed individuals had been seen exiting the apartment a short time befol

and the apartment had a loft from which a shooter could target officers as thesdethie

apartment.d. at 777. The officers were also aware there was a possibaityive to eight people

would be sleeping inside the apartmelat. The SWATTeamsupervisor determined that a flag
bang device should be used near the door, where individuals were unlikely to be sleepaeg,
to gain entry and secure the premisés.  Unfortunately, Plaintiff Boyd was sleeping near

front wall where the flaslbhang came to rest, and suffered burns on her forearm when the

ignited. Id. at 77#78. The Ninth Circuit affirmed that the district court correctly found athour

Amendment violation under the facts presented because the “officers’ usecef vilis
constitutionally excessive” under the circumstandes.at 77879. The Court held “[t]lhere ar
likely circumstances in which a risk to officers’ safety would make the fusdl@ashbang device
appropriate,” but “given the inherently dangerous nature of the-tilasg device, it cannot be
reasonable use offe under the Fourth Amendment . . . absent a strong government in
careful consideration of alternatives and appropriate measures to redusk tfienjury.” Id. at
779.

The Court nonetheless affirmed qualified immunity for the officers becauseognized
this rule was not clearly established in 1997 when the fhasigr was usedd. at 784. However
the Court noted that the use of the flash-bang would likely have been “so patelatiyeiof the

constitutional right that reasonable officers should have known that their actions
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unconstitutional without guidance from the couft&here was naeasonable likelihood that th
occupants of the apartment would be armdd.”at 78.

Under the holding and reasoningBdyd the constitutional violation committed by Za|
and Wiley when they orchestrated the explosive breach was clearly establi?@®3. The
Government’s interest in the use of the explosive breach was not strong beualilse in Boyd
—the SWATTeammembers were under no conceivable threat of danger. There was no ind
that Leonard was armed or threatening anyone’sysafeen the breach was requested, authorij
and executed. Additionally, Defendants devoted insufficient consideration to altesranost
obviously, continuing peaceful negotiations with Leonard, who had cooperated byndping.
onto the porch with a car seat and overnight bag, and who had indicated his willingnessedg
E.T. to Annalesa. SeeECF 264 at 185; ECF 269 at-95; ECF 267 at 1552.) As expert
testimony revealed at trial, “[at] no time in this incident would that explosieadbion Side 3
have been appropriate. . . . There were no threats, there were no issues at all, thtatedtes
use of explosives at any time during this incident.” (ECF 165-481)7 The use of the explosiy
breach was “an emergency assault. There was never an emergency that reguiredethto
make entry into this house. Never. Because negotiations hadn't’fgilddat 18.)

Zaro and Wiley violated the Fourth Amendment when they caused an explosive brg
be used on the backdoor of a suspect’s house when the suspect was unarmed and n
peacefully with officers, and when Zaro’s order to snipers not to let Leonardritadkeé house

with E.T. remained outstanding. This violation was clearly established.

3. Shooting of the dog.

Defendants argue that Wiley’'s decision to shBakterafter Vance had already shot t

dog twice was justified because the dog remained a thi@axters menacing naturevas a
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disputed fact at trial. Vance testified that as he and Wiley stormdubtise after the explosiy
breach, he shot Leonard’s dog twice, and shortly thereafter Wiley firedomadighots killing the
dog. GeeECF 269 at 20®9.) The jury found that Vance’s decision to shBaixter was
reasonable, but that Wiley’s decision to shoot the dog was BeeECF 237 at 6; ECF 220 &
26.) The only fair inference from this verdict is that the jury determinedBoeter could not
reasonably haveden viewed as dangerous aftemres shot twice by Vance. The Court has
reasonto disturb that finding. The question, then, is whether it was clearly estabtistethe
Constitution prohibits officers from shooting a dog that has survived previous gunshots bt
longer threatening.

“In the Ninth Circuit, we begin our inquiry by looking to binding preceder@dyd v.
Benton Cty.374 F.3d 773, 781 (9th Cir. 2004). “If the right is clearly established by decig
authority of the Supreme Court or this Circuit, our inquiry should come to an end. On th¢
hand, when there are relatively few cases on point, and none of them are binding, weuina
whether the Ninth Circuit or Supreme Court, at the time th@Baircuit opinions were rendereq
would have reached the same result$d. (quotations and citations omitfed“Thus, in the
absence of binding precedent, we look to whatever decisional law is availabletaiasdeesther
the law is clearly established for qualified immunity purposes, including desisf state courtg
other circuits, and district courtsld. (quotations and citations omitted).

The Ninth Circuit held irfan Jose Charter of Hells Angels Motorcycle Club v. City of

no

It is no

ional

b other

)

San

Jose 402 F.3d 962, 975 (9th Cir. 2005) that officers may kill a dog only where it is “reasgnably

necessary to effectuate the performance of the law enforcement officer’s duties.”illingeok
a dog is a destruction recognized as a seizure under the Fourth AmendcheBogs “are more

than just a personal effect,” the Court said; “The emotional attachment to a $adaty’is not
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comparable to a possessory interest in furnitude.” In Hells Angelsthe Court affirmed the

denial of qualified immunity where officers had a week to plan a raid ofpestisresidence an
had advance notice of the presence of two gdag$, and yet made no plan to protect the e
team from dogs other than by shooting thdoh.at 976. Defendants argittells Angelsshould
not apply here, where Wiley was reacting to exigent circumstances. Thizeraayinstance, ther
where there @ relatively few cases on point within the Circuit, and looking to decisions ren
by other jurisdictions is appropriate.

A Seventh Circuit case decided in 2008 is analogoud/iilmv. Eyre 547 F.3d 707 (7th
Cir. 2008), officers raided a residence in search of a wanted felon. When a dogmahdi
backyard of the residence towards the police, an officer fired two shdis dog, striking it at
least once. 547 F.3d at 709. The dog retreated to bushes near the front window of the resiq
and emerged minutes later when Defendant Sergeant Kevin Eyre arrived on thedsaan#09.
Officers testified that the dog ran from under the bushes with his teeth and gumsiprfitesg
witnesses testified that the dog was limping slowly ananplering. Id. Eyre, professing to feg
for his own safety, shot the dog twice more, killingld. The Seventh Court held that qualifi¢
immunity was not appropriate, resolving the factual dispute in favor of the filant explaining
that the Third Circuit and the Ninth Circuit Hells Angelshad clearly established that an offig

cannot kill a person’s pet unnecessarify.at 710. “[Clommon sense,” the Court said, “counse

that the use of deadly force against a household pet is reasonigtifehe pet poses an immediate

danger and the use of force is unavoidabld.” Here, the jury found that Leonard’s dog was
longer dangerous when it was shot by Wiley. It was clearly establist#8d 8 that officers ma)

not use lethal force against dogs that are no longer dangerous.
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4, Unlawful arest.

As for Cannon’s participation in the arrest of Fred, “It is well establishatdath arrest
without probable cause violates the Fourth Amendment and gives rise to éocldamages unde
[42 U.S.C.] 8 1983.”"Rosenbaum v. Washoe C#63 F.3d 1071, 1076 (9th Cir. 201(fjuoting
Borunda v. Richmond85 F.2d 1884, 1391 (9th Cir. 1988)). There can be no dispute th3
rule is long established. The only question here is a factual whether Fred’s actions supplie
probable cause for his arrest. The jarnswered that question as to Zaro and Cannon ir
negative. (ECF 237 at 7.) The Court has ruled that the jury’s verdict was supported

evidence. Accordingly, qualified immunity is denied.

VI. DEEENDANTS’ MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL

Defendants move for a new trial under Rule 59. Under Federal Rule of Civil Pred

59(a)(1)(A), the “court may, on motion, grant a new trial . . . after a jialy tor any reason fof

which a new trial has heretofore been granted in an action at law in federdl dotnial court
“enjoys broa discretion with regard to a new trial motionUnited States v. Hinkspb85 F.3d
1247, 1263 (9th Cir. 2009) (en banc) (citidljed Chem. Corp. v. Daiflon, Inc449 U.S. 33, 36
(1980) (“The authority to grant a new trial . . . is confided almosteintio the exercise o
discretion on the part of the trial court.”)). The Court may grant a new triaf[@hlpaving given

full respect to the jury’s findings, the judge on the entire evidence is leftivattiefinite and firm
conviction that a misike has been committedT’ortu v. Las Vegas Metro. Police De®66 F.3d
1075, 1087-88 (9th Cir. 2009) (internal quotation marks omitted).

Defendants argue that ten errors cumulatively deprived Defendants of thetoragFdir
trial: (1) exclusionof weapons found on and under the bed where Leonard and E.T. wer

during the standoff; (2) allowing the Estate and the Individual Plaintiffs ieedeluplicative casq
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presentations to the jury; (3) allowing Plaintiffs to pursue-tsaed arguments an already
racially charged occurrence; (4) excluding the Josh Powell incident; (S)sexclof a 3D
animation created by Defendants despite permitting Plaintiffs to show theiBDvamimation;
(6) allowing Plaintiffs to argue adverse inferences from Brian Markert'sohgcio retain a lawye
postshooting; (7) answering a jury question regarding Defendant Jason Cannon’s empl
status; (8) cumulative error; (9) inconsistent verdicts; and (10) evidedgécyencies. The Cour

will address eachn turn.

A. Exclusion of Weapons

Defendants argue it was error for the Court to exclude evidence that dldedknife
and an unloaded pistol crossbow were found in an upstairs wit@n the police searched t
house afteLeonard was shotA Court’s evidentiary rulings are reviewed for abuse of discre

and cannot form the basis for reversal or a new trial unless they are “margfestigous.”Gen.

Elec. Co. v. Joiner522 U.S. 136, 142 (1997Mavellier v. Sletten262 F.3d 923, 942 (9th Cif.

2001). A court abuses its discretion only when it commits an error of law or wheauti's
decision is illogical, implausible, or “without support in inferences that may dendfrom the
facts in the record.” Perry v. Brown 667 F.3d 1078, 1084 (9th Cir. 2012)nited States v
Hinkson 585 F.3d 1247, 1262 (9th Cir. 2009) (en banc).

Defendants contend that the Court’s evidentiary ruling unfairly prevented tloem
challenging Plaintiffs’ “central trial theme” that Leonard Thomas wasmedr (ECF 283 at 6.
Had the Court allowed it, Defeadts say that SWAT Officer Micah Wilson “would have testif
that he found the knife on the bed immediately after the shooting, during his protectedy

the Thomas residence.ld( at 67.) Defendants complain that the Court’s decision to exc
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this evidence left the jury with the misimpression that Leonard was not a thrEat. or the
police.

To the extent Defendants desired to introduce this evidence in order to justifg
command not to let Leonard back into the house or to just#sk®tt’'s decision to fire the lethd
shot, they ignore the Fourth Amendment rule that the reasonableness of an officdustis
determined based on the information available to the officer at the time airttheat. See Smith
v. City of Hemet394 F.3d 689, 701 (9th Cir. 2005). Police did not discover these weapon
after the house was breached and Leonard was shot, and therefore the exidtengesapong
cannot retroactively justify those decisions. Besides, absent any other syppuidience, thq
existence of a knife and unloaded renossbow inside a home is not probative of any in
Leonard may have harbored to harm E.T. Leonard certainly could not have threalerwedte
police with the weapons during the moments between the explosive breach and Marker
because, as Plaintiff's proved and Defendants do not contest, Leonard did not hes¢caang
weapons during this period. The Court balartbeddanger of unfair prejudice to Plaintiffem
the introduction of this evidence as required by Federal Rule of Evidence 403, andiedribht

this dangesubstantially outwghed any probative value related to liability or damages.

B. Duplicative Case Presentations

The separate counsel representing the Estate of Leonard Thomas and the In
Plaintiffs (Fred, Annalesa, and E.T.) were permitted to divide their timelegrthey pleased, S
long as their aggregate amount of time did not exceed the amount time that wad il
Defendants’ counsel. Defendants argue that they were nonetheless préyydiisérrangemen
because questions asked of a witness by the Estate’s counsel were occasicrattyl epthe

same witness by counsel for the Individual Plaintiffs.
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Even if Defendants could show that this sporadic repetition was prejudieiach they
cannot -Defendants waived this argument by failing to object during trial. “A partyeritahg
the admission of evidence must timely object and state the specific graurtds bbjection.”
United States v. Gomé&oreng 908 F.2d 497, 500 (9th Cir. 1990) (citing Fed. R. Evid. 103(a)
“This rule serves to ensure that ‘the nature of the error [is] called to theattehthe judge, sq
as to alert [her] to the proper course of action and enable opposing counsel to rasiveq

measures.””ld. (quotingAdvisory Committee’s Note tRule 103(a), 56 F.R.D. 183, 195 (197

(first alteration in original). Defendants now argue that raising theidmpethat a question had

been asked and answered would have been “futile (at best) and signaled to thegjigndsrids
were hiding something (at worst).” (ECF 283 at 13.) Defendants are free to theiosevn trial
strategy and devise their own predictions about how jurors will respond to their belbani
raising an objection would not have been futile in at least one regard: the objectidnhaoel
presered this issue for appeal. By failing to do so, Defendants forfeited their oppottuasi
the Court and opposing counsel to take any corrective measures that may have bsaryndc
Defendants had raised an objection, the Court would have had an opportunity, outsieleetnes
of the jury, to caution Plaintiffscounsel against repetitive questiogi In any evat, the Court

allocated trial time in a fair manner.

C. RaceBased Arguments

Defendants argue that the Court erred by permitting Plaintiffs “to disasal‘factors’
allegedly influencing Defendants’ decistomaking on the night in question.” (ECF 283 at 1
Defendants contend that the “most egregious display of Plaintiffs’ exploitatioacial factors

occurred when Plaintiffs’ counsel told the jury during closing:
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Because you need to know who he was so that you do think and you do understang
that Leonards background and his life mattered.

and

These lives do matter, and these SWAT teams and police officers need to know that
you don’t use deadly force when it's not justified.

(ECF 283 at 15 (quoting ECF 272 at 179-80 & 183).)

In other words, Defendants suggest that a new trial is required because attoraq
wrongful death case suggested to a jury that the decedent’s life maifereed incontextthese
statements representlthintiffs’ legitimateeffort to refute what they perceived as Defendal
attemptto diminish the worth of Leonarsllife by highlighting negatier aspects of hisackground.
(SeeECF 272 atl78) That effort, andPlaintiffs’ rarereferences to Leonard’s racring trial,
were appropriate in light of the facts of this case. There is simply nothihg record to suppo

the argument that Plaintiffs prejudiced the jury with racial arguments.

D. Excluding Reference to the Josh Powell Incident

Defendants next argue that the Court erred by granting Plaintiffs’ motion in limi
exclude testimony about Josh Powell, a man who brutally killed himself and his chiidnes
residence in Tacoma, Washington in February 2012. (ECF 283 at 15.) Defendants cont
Zaro and other officers would have testified that the Powell incident was fraséinminds as
they gauged the appropriateness of their response to the Leonard Thomas stéhdatf16()

The Court recognizes that the Defendants’dseét is relevant to punitive damages and admisg
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evidence under Federal Rules of Evidence’40itl 402. However, even relevant evidence m
be excludedif its probative value is substantially outweighed by a danger of . . . unfair prejt
confusirg the issues, [or] misleading the jury.” Fed. R. Evid. 403. The Court determine
testimony regarding the Josh Powell incident risked significant unfejugice to Plaintiffs

because the jury might have been tempted to conflate two episodesringinte distinct.

The details of the Powell incident received substantial media coverdggh Powell was

already suspected of killing his wife on the night of the musdéide, and had been deni
custody of his two sons pending a psychosexual evaluation related to a voyeurishildn
pornography investigation. After donating his boys’ toys to Goodwill and emailingtbiaet,
“I'm sorry, goodbye,” Powell executed his deadly plan. TAmerecounts§:
Josh Powell, father to Charles, 7, and Braden, 5, reportedly blew up his
home outside of Tacoma, Wash., just a few miles south of Seattle, within minutes

of his sons’ running from a caseworker’s car to his front door on Sunday, Feb. 5.
He pulled the children inside and locked the door. By the tinee contract

3 Evidence is relevant if:

(a) it has any tendency to make atfanore or less pratble than it would be without the evidence;
and

(b) the fact is of consequence in determining the action.

Fed. R. Evid. 401.

4 Relevant evidence is admissible unless any of the following providesndsi:

the United States Constitoih;

a federal statute;

these rules; or

other rules prescribed by the Supreme Court.

Irrelevant evidence is not admissible.

Fed. R. Evid. 402.
5> SeeFed. R. Evid. 201 (“The court may judicially notice a fact that is ngestitp reasonable dispuite

8 Tim Newcomb,Timeline: The Powell Family’s Tragic Two Yeafsve (Feb. 07, 2012),
http://newsfeed.time.com/2012/02/07 /timelithe-powellfamilys-tragictwo-years.

64

ay
idice,

d that

b

19%
o

dc




© 0 N o o A w N e

N N NN NN P PR R R R R R R
M N W N B, O © 0 ~N o ;AN W N Rk O

caseworker reached the door, she smelled gasoline and started pounding on the dog

and windows. An explosion ripped through the house. Three minutes later, when

firefighters arrived on the scene, the residence was fully engulfed in flémes.
autopsy revealed the father also actulgd to chop his sons with a hatclhefore

setting the fire.

When police responded to the Thomas residence, in contrast, Leonard had full cus
his son and was not suspected of anything approaching murder. Moreover, Defendants
benefit of a four hour standoff to learn that Leonard was unarmedréyd/antedthe police to
leave him alone for the night. While officers may always prepare for thet wben they respon
to a disturbance, they amenetheless obligated to tailor their actions and orders to the facts ag

presented before therSee Bond v. United Stat&29 U.S. 334, 338 n.2 (2000) (“[T]he subjecti

intent of the law enforcement officer is irrelevant in determining whetlaratfficer's actions

tody of

had the

&N

ctually

<

e

violate the Fourth Amendment.”Jhe Court ruled that allowing details of the Powell incident to

be introduced would be prejudicial to Plaintiffs. Just as Plaintiffs would not have besttqu
to introduce the bloody details of police shootings in Ferguson, Missouri and beyond, Defq
could not present their own grisly account from Tacoma. This case wahbdsed on the fact
that occurred in Fife, Washington on the night of May 23, 2@&fendants explaingd the jury
their version and interpretation of those faethich includedextensive testimony abothar fear

that Leonard was a threat to E.TNonethelessDefendants were found liable for actin
unreasonablyand the punitive damages reflected the jury’s fair determination that Defgn
response to those facts was malicious, oppressive, or in reckless disregaidtifiisPigyhts.

(SeeECF 220 at 47.) The Court’s decision to exclude reference to the Powell murders
necessary to ensure that the factthisf casewvere not obscured by other sensational accounts

may haveesulted inunfair prejudice to the parties or confused or misled the jury.
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E. Excluding the 3DAnimations

Defendants argue that the Court erred by excluding animations prepgabBfdndants|
showing the final moments leading up to Markert’s shooting of Leonard Thomas. Afengi
the animation and hearing testimony and argument about the mmisiaccuracy, the Cout
ruled:

The Court is persuaded that there’s sufficient differences between this and the

actual circumstances. The lighting is totally different, the bush is diffetearh

not at all persuaded that the heights are accurate.

And, you know, there was a demonstration yesterdialyope we were all in the

same courtroom+ when the witness did demonstrate for the jury. And, quite

frankly, the demonstration that this Court saw was quite different than this
animation or the screenshot. | don't find it's accurate enough to be admitted, and

I’'m going to exclude them.

(ECF 270 at 30-31.)

Defendants’ citations from outside jurisdictions do not convince the Courtshating

was inerror. Defendants also object that an animation prepared by Plaintiffs was adf

Plaintiffs’ animation, however, was admitted only to illustrate the trajectory tiudhet that killed

Leonard. Any inaccuracy in Plaintiffs’ animation, which wasjectbto scrutiny before the jur

—

nitted.

(seeECF 168 at 2287), did not create a risk of unfair prejudice comparable to Defendants’

animation, which purported to show the broader scene as it unfolded before Magldridirifle.

F. Discussion of Markert's Leg&epresentation

Defendants argue that the Court erred by permitting Plaintiffs to refereadeeitls
decision to retain counsel in the context of arguing to the jury that Markert'smwaiticount of
the shooting was “a parody of an ovawyered stateent where every possible justification
thrown in and repeated page after page.” (ECF 272 at 87.) Plaintiffs stated to/ thevgnal

times their belief that Markert’s statement was a-postrationalization designed to avoid leg
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accountability réher than a frank recollection of the events at iss8eeECF 270 at 82, 88; EC
272 at 40.) Defendants contend this was impermissible because “[cJommenting onnal g
suspect’s decision to retain counsel is prohibited.” (ECF 283 at 19 (dmibgd States v. Kallin
50 F.3d 689, 693 (9th Cir. 1995).)

First, Defendants ignore the obvious: the constitutional concerns discuskadlibyare
not implicated because this was not a criminal trial. Second, Plaintiffs did gus, ar even
suggest, tat Markert should be found liable due to the fact that he retained couriss.is,
Plaintiffs did not introduce this fact for the truth of the mattather, they argued that Markert
legalistic defenswvas designetb obscure the truth. Third, any prejudice suffered by Defeng
is negated by the fact that Defendants themsedeeght to undermine Fred Thomas'’s credibi
on account of his decision to retain an attorney shortly after Leonard’s d8aetdtCF 167 at 11

ECF 172 at 145.) Plaintiffs’ occasional references to Markert’s attorney do notraaqaw trial.

G. Answeaing Jury’'s Question Regarding Cannon’s Employment

During deliberations, the jury asked, “Is Jason Cannon (@ time of incident) a Lake
officer? Is there an org chart in evidence of all SWAT officers at the tiineident with the roleg
they played?s there a chart that shows all the officers and their department affiliateG% Z33
at 4.) Over Defendants’ objection, the Court answered: “Jason Cannon is aohdkgelice
officer. For any further information, you must rely on your collectivenowy, notes, and th
exhibits.” (ld. at 5.) The jury subsequently found Cannon liable for arresting Fred wit
probable cause, found the City of Lakewood liable for false arrest, rdlieded zero damage
against Cannon and $500,000 in damages against the City of Lakewood on the claims. (&

at 7, 8, 12.) Defendants argue that the jury “would not have found Jason Cannon and thg
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Lakewood liable for $500,000 in false arrest damages had the Court not provided that suh

answer to its question.” (ECF 283 at 20.)

A district court’s response to a question from the jury is reviewed for abuse @ftidiscyt

United States v. RomerAvila, 210 F.3d 1017, 1024 (9th Cir. 2000). Instructions to the jury
reviewed for whether they were “misleéag or confusing, inadequately guided the jur
deliberations, or improperly intruded on the féintling process.” United States v. Warrer25
F.3d 890, 898 (9th Cir. 1994). None of these errors were present in the Court’s answe
jury’s questionbecause the answer was a simgadienittedfact from the record. SeeECF 213
12.3; ECF 263 at 145 (During direct examination of Zaro, “Q: Officer Cannon assvegibther
defendant here with the City of Lakew@@: Yes.”).) Reminding the jury of an undisputald

admitted fact is not error.

H. Cumulative Error

Defendantscontendthat the errorsset forth in this motion and all other objectior
preserved during trial cumulatively require a new trial. Defendants have faipeduade the
Court, howeverthata new trial is‘necessary to prevent a miscarriage of justicEXperience

Hendrix L.L.C. v. Hendrixlicensing.com Ltd62 F.3d 829, 845-46 (9th Cir. 2014).

I. Inconsistent Verdicts

Defendants argue that a new trial is warranted because thenagred two inconsister
verdicts. First, Defendants maintain it was inconsistent for the jury to find Wikerydd Vance
liable for violating Plaintiffs’ rights by killing Leonard’s dog. Second, Defents argue it wa
inconsistent for the jury to fin@annon but not Micenko liable for arresting Fred Thomas witf
probable cause. The Court has already rejected these arguments i, Baprd addressing

Defendants’ Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law.
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J. Evidentiary Deficiencies

Finally, Defendard argue that the jury’s verdict and damages awards are not suppol

the evidence. The Court rejected these arguments in Ramsl IV, supra Having weighed the

evidence and assessed the credibility of witnesses, the Court determimasilihefindings and

damages awards were not against the clear weight of the evidence.

VIl. CONCLUSION

For the reasons herein, Defendants’ Motion for Judgment as a Matter of L&W2E2E
Motion for Remittitur (ECF 284)Motion for Qualified Immunity (ECF 280)ndMotion for a
New Trial (ECF 283pare each hereby DENIED.

SO ORDERED.

Dated this 11th day of January, 2018.

/ﬁ;&aw Eul-t-t.,{ A

Barbara Jacobs Rothstein
U.S. DistrictCourt Judge
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